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A NOTE APPRECIATION TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS 

The onset of the Covid-19 pandemic has created extraordinary challenges for the Company following the difficult 
conditions of 2019.  The conclusion of the annual results for 2019 has been delayed by the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic primarily due to the closure of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius and delays caused by regulators in 
Nigeria to conclude the refinancing of a loan due in December 2019 in respect of our Nigerian subsidiary.  The 
Company has managed to deal with these challenges in order to conclude these annual financial statements and 
place the Company in a position to bear up to the balance of 2020 and deal with its strategic priorities.   

We understand that information and trading guidance is essential to our shareholders, we are now in a position 
to do so.   I would like to thank our shareholders for your patience and understanding during these trying times.   

SUBSEQUENT UPDATES 

Given the circumstances we have faced and the effluxion of time; this report will focus on the financial position 
of the Company at the end of 2019 together with a review of performance.  There is a limited focus on the 
prognosis of the Company, rather our intention is to provide detailed trading updates as part of the quarterly 
updates, including the strategic outlook for the Company.  

2019 IN REVIEW 

During 2019 the Board and the Advisor spent much of the year focusing on the preservation of cash flow, 
therefore value, by retaining existing tenants, in some instances utilizing incentives, and reletting vacant space, 
often at rentals attractive to tenants, thus extending lease expiries in order to sustain future cash flow.   

The value of the Company’s portfolio has declined by 12.5% to USD 126.8 million as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 
USD 144.9 million) due mainly to declining rental income combined with the impact of the prevalent difficult 
market conditions in the portfolio’s respective geographies. The biggest being impact in Nigeria. This loss in the 
value of the properties resulted in a net loss attributable to shareholders of USD 16,225,782 (2018: USD 3,706,323).  

The 2019 operating loss of USD 16.2 million may be attributed as follows: 

USD ACCRA 
MALL 

ATLANTIC 
HOUSE 

CAPITAL 
PROPERTIES 

SOHL SACREIL TOTAL 

              

Income in-country  4,237,471  2,480,419  4,248,677  -    -    10,966,568  
Expenses in-country   (788,942) (433,445)  (840,459) -    -     (2,062,847) 

Net operating income in-country  3,448,529  2,046,974  3,408,217  -    -    8,903,721  
Mauritian operating costs   (123,269)  (25,767)  (55,949) (20,523)  (317,479)  (542,987) 
Change in deferred tax adjustment (1,192,725)  (547,483) -    -    -    (1,740,209)    
Advisory fee -    -    -    -    (1,406,793)  (1,406,793) 
Net finance costs (1,780,471) (1,202,839)  (1,428,658) -    -     (4,411,968) 

Operating income / (loss) before tax  352,063  270,885    1,923,611  (20,523) (1,724,272) 801,764  
Tax  678,776  320,184  356,229  -    -    1,355,189  

Total profit / (loss) after tax  1,030,839  591,069  2,279,840  (20,523) (1,724,272) 2,156,953  
Fair value loss on property valuation  (5,717,721) (6,850,531) (5,814,483) -    -    (18,382,735) 

Operating loss (4,686,882) (6,259,462)  (3,534,643) (20,523) (1,724,272) (16,225,782) 

Where SOHL is Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited 

This performance resulted in a decline in the net asset value per share from USD 5.2598 in 2018 to USD 4.3892 per 
share as at 31 December 2019. 

Distribution to shareholders 

The Company cannot distribute dividend for the 2019 financial year due to failing the solvency test per the 
Companies Act, 2001. Therefore, the dividend for 2019 is USD nil per share (2018: USD 1,118,185 equivalent to USD 
0.0600 per share). 
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ECONOMIC BACKDROP1 

Tanzania 
Real GDP growth was estimated at 6.8% for 2019. A diversified economy, characterized by robust private 
consumption, substantial public spending, strong investment growth, and an upturn in exports underpinned the 
positive outlook.  Tourism, mining, services, construction, agriculture, and manufacturing are notable sectors.  
Growth is projected to be broadly stable at 6.4% in 2020 and 6.6% in 2021, subject to favourable weather, prudent 
fiscal management, mitigation of financial sector vulnerabilities, and implementation of reforms to improve the 
business environment.  Inflation fell to an estimated 3.3% in 2019 from 3.6% in 2018 due to an improved food 
supply.  The Tanzanian shilling was fairly stable in 2019. The current account deficit slightly widened to 3.4% of 
GDP in 2019 from 3.3% in 2018. The fiscal deficit, financed mainly by concessional external debt, stood at 2.0% of 
GDP in 2019, up from 1.3% in 2018, and is projected to stabilize at 1.9% in 2020 and 2.2% in 2021.  

Ghana  
Ghana’s economy continued to expand in 2019, with real GDP growth estimated at 7.1% placing Ghana among 
Africa’s 10 fastest-growing economies. As West Africa’s top FDI recipient, Ghana received more than a third of 
the region’s inflows in 2018, reflecting the country’s emerging skills base. Private consumption contributed to the 
improvements in the macroeconomic environment.  The industrial sector, with average annual growth exceeding 
10%, was a major driver of growth in the three years to 2019.  Agriculture will continue to be the second fastest-
growing sector in the economy.  A financial sector clean-up that started in 2017 placed a temporary drag on 
growth of services.   Ghana maintained its moderate fiscal and current account deficits, single-digit inflation, and 
a relatively stable exchange rate.   

Nigeria 
Nigeria real GDP growth was estimated at 2.3% for 2019, marginally higher than 1.9% in 2018.  Growth was 
mainly in transport, an improved oil sector, and information and communications technology.  Agriculture was 
hurt by sporadic flooding and by conflicts between herdsmen and local farmers.  Manufacturing continued to 
suffer from a lack of financing.  Final household consumption was the key driver for growth, reinforcing its 1.1% 
contribution to real GDP growth in 2018.  The effort to lower inflation to the 6%–9% range faced structural and 
macroeconomic constraints, including rising food prices and arrears payments, resulting in a rate estimated at 
11.3% for 2019.  With fiscal revenues below 7% of GDP, increased public spending widened the deficit, financed 
mainly by borrowing.  At the end of June 2019, total public debt was $83.9 billion 14.6%higher than the year 
before and representing 20.1% of GDP.  High debt service payments, estimated at more than half of federally 
collected revenues, created fiscal risks. The current account surplus sharply declined due to increased imports, 
lower oil revenues, and a smaller than expected improvement in capital flows.  

MARKET CONTEXT2 

Tanzania: Dar-es-salaam office market 
Dar-es-salaam historically comprises three districts, Kinondoni, Ilala and Temeke.  Kinondoni is the most affluent 
of these districts given the recent infrastructure investments and has seen the balance of property investment in 
commercial, retail and residential projects in the last decade.  Dar-es-salaam’s city center (Kivukoni, Kisutu and 
Upanga) is the hub of commercial activity in Tanzania.   The concept of mixed-use developments (MUDs) in Dar-
es-salaam has been gaining popularity. Most of the skyscrapers accommodate hotels, apartments, quasi retail on 
the ground floor and office spaces all in one tower.  

The city center office nodes take up the bulk of market supply as higher densities are permitted with buildings 
up to 35 floors. The balance is in close proximity but spread out northwards away from the city center with lower 
densities. Most of the multinational entities have taken space in the extended business districts either adjacent of 
north of the city center due to the improved stock quality, limited congestion, proximity to housing and other 
socio-economic amenities. 

With the growing demand, developers have seen an opportunity to invest in this sector causing a major supply-
demand mismatch since 2016 and forcing headline rentals down across the sector.  The industry has experienced 
government offices relocating from Dar-es-salaam to Dodoma in 2018 which creating vacancy and exacerbating 
the decline in rental levels.  
                                                 
1 Source: Africa Economic Outlook 2020, African Development Bank 
2 Source: Broll Property Services  
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Ghana: Accra retail market 

During 2019, the retail market recorded positive growth compared to the previous year. Occupancy levels 
increased as did tenant enquiries and space take up, including six new foreign entrants.  Most leases, which were 
due for renewal in 2019, were renewed as landlords were ready to offer better deals such as rent reduction, shorter 
leases.  Typical space take-up within the primary market ranged between 50m² to 200m².  Notwithstanding the 
rise in space take-up recorded in 2019, major retailers such as the Foschini Group, Jet and Edgars exited the 
market. These exits were said to be largely influenced by internal decisions of these retailers. Woolworths which 
was also been operating in the secondary market also exited from the country for similar reasons. 

Rental levels witnessed a marginal fall during 2019.  Supply of retail space in the primary market however has 
remained stable over the past 12 months after the Takoradi Mall started trading in the last quarter of 2018.  The 
absence of additional space onto the market has caused a reduction in vacancy levels as retail space seekers are 
compelled to take up vacant spaces within the established malls.  Average occupancy rates had improved over 
the past 12 months, edging up to 83% compared to 80% recorded in 2018.  

The commercial property market is relatively undeveloped with most of the major retail development driven by 
overseas investors. The interest has increased significantly over the last two years with a number of overseas 
funds actively looking for acquisitions. There is an increasing interest in its retail and office potential, which has 
resulted in a more saturated market.  A number of new A grade property transactions have occurred in the last 
18 months, which is starting to provide clearer comparable data.  

Nigeria: Lagos Office Market  

2019 recorded the largest take-up in the A-grade market in the last 5 years - c.20,000m².  The bulk of concluded 
transactions were driven by the technology and oil and gas industries.  Around 20% of the take-up comprised of 
the expansion of existing tenants within their current premises.  Enquiries were dominated by oil and gas and 
technology industries in addition to industries such as business services, diplomatic institutions and media. 
Occupier requirements remained fairly unchanged in the market with the top factors driving building selection 
(outside of costs) being location, security, building efficiency, HSE7 features, and onsite amenities.  Asking rents 
have generally remained unchanged in the market, however, with the onset of new quality A-grade buildings 
the market has essentially recategorized older buildings in Victoria Island; some older historical “A-grade” 
buildings have been downgraded to B-grade and even C-grade.  

The nature of transactions closed in 2019 were a hybrid of large space requirements of over 2,000m² to smaller 
requirements of about 250 to 500 m². The most noteworthy of the major transactions that occurred in the year was 
the sale of the Cornerstone Tower Development (GLA of 12,040m²) to a technology owner occupier.  Although 
there have been no comparable events such as this in the last five years, the market may well be on the verge of 
seeing more owner-occupier transactions in the A-grade market as large corporates continue to consider buy or 
build options.   

PORTFOLIO UPDATE  

Over the past 12 months the Dar-es-salaam office market has been impacted by Government relocating to 
Dodoma leaving large vacant voids causing rentals to fall as tenants either sought to relocate as Landlords re-let 
at lower rentals or Landlords became defensive offering incentives to retain tenants.  The three commercial 
buildings within Capital Properties Limited have managed to maintain a relatively stable occupancy rate in 
prevailing market conditions, however rentals rates have dropped. 

Accra Mall is one of the West African retail destinations catering largely to the upper income group within Accra. 
It has a relatively unique retail offering, is a catalyst for development in the area and it is located just off a major 
transport route, with a high level of passing traffic.  Its catchment area covers most of Accra.  A recent survey 
indicates that 38% of the shoppers reside within a 10 kilometer radius of the mall. This is supported by its 
consistent low vacancy.  Notwithstanding the later, performance was impacted by the by economic conditions 
and the further devaluation of the Cedi to the USD over the period.   
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Atlantic House is located in Victoria Island, Lagos. Victoria Island and neighboring Ikoyi are the city’s two prime 
office nodes.  Following a significant drop in office rental across the board during 2017/18 period, the market has 
now re-based and clear levels established for typical A, B, and C grade buildings given significant new supply of 
new quality A grade assets coming to market which has effectively demoted historical A grade assets, such as 
Atlantic House, to B grade, together with a significant impact on the asset value as we have been reporting 
quarterly. 

STRATEGIC OTLOOK 

Essentially SACRIEL is at a crossroad. It would be reasonable to assume that one of the following two scenarios 
should unfold during 2020: firstly, the Advisor is exploring an expansion strategy, which if successful, should 
position the Company for much needed expansion; secondly, and failing the later, the Board will need to consider 
the Company’s options to fund the constitutional share repurchase. These scenarios present a key milestone in 
the Company’s progress and has received much focus during 2019 and is an imperative for both the Advisor and 
the Board for 2020.   

During 2019 the Advisor made reasonably good progress in respect of developing an expansion strategy, which 
the Board has approved in principle, seeking strategic partnerships and alliances in the Company’s geographies 
(and key regions) aimed at accelerating access to assets, to improve the NAV growth path to position the 
Company to potentially raise new capital with the view to broaden the shareholder base and improve the much 
needed liquidity.    

Should the Company’s Gross Asset Value (GAV) be less than USD 750 million as at 31 December 2020, then the 
Class A shareholders may elect to have their shares repurchased by the Company, subject to the Company’s 
Constitution and provided that the Company can obtain the necessary funds.   The Company then has two years 
to meet this obligation.     

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT  

In a step towards ensuring Board diversity including gender diversity, Mrs. Lusanda Jakavula was appointed as a 
non-executive Director on 28 August 2019. Mrs Jakavula is the Chief Financial Officer of the advisor to the 
Company, Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor.   

In compliance with the Mauritius Code of Corporate Governance, the Corporate Governance Report has been 
included in the financial statements. Kindly refer thereto for additional disclosures.  

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS  

I thank the Advisor, the Administrator, the Board, the Audit and Risk Management Committee members for their 
dedication, hard work and continued support for the Company over 2019, and I look forward to working with 
them all for the remainder of 2020.  

 

 
Anil Currimjee  

Chairman of the Board 
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The directors present their commentary and the audited financial statements of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate 
Investments Limited (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 

The principal activity of the Company is to hold investments in commercial real estate in selected countries in Sub-
Saharan Africa. These investments are normally held indirectly through holding(s) in companies holding the 
underlying real estate assets. 
 
RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS 

The Company’s operating loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to USD 17,433,734 (2018: operating 
loss of USD 3,706,323). 

No interim nor final dividend was declared for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: USD 1,118,185 equivalent 
to USD 0.0600 per share) 
 
DIRECTORS 

The directors in office during the year are as stated on Page 2. 
 
DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES  

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, 
comprising the Company’s statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, the statement of changes in net assets attributable to shareholders and the statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in 
compliance with the Companies Act 2001 and the National Code of Corporate Governance. 

The directors’ responsibilities include: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances. 

The directors have made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason 
to believe the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead. 
 
AUDITOR 

The auditor, Ernst & Young, has indicated its willingness to continue in office and a resolution concerning their re-
appointment will be proposed at the next Annual Meeting of the Shareholders in accordance with Section 200 of the 
Companies Act 2001. 
 
DONATIONS 

The Company and its subsidiaries did not make any donations in the year under review (2018: nil). 
 

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS 

The Directors do not hold any interest in the ordinary share capital of the Company (2018: nil). 

  



  
SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED  
COMMENTARY OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)           10. 
 
DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION & BENEFITS 
 

Name of Director 2019 (USD) 2018 (USD) 
Jacobus Petrus Moller 24,000 24,000 
Anil Carrim Currimjee 20,000 20,000 
Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula 4,755 - 
Keith Robert Jefferis 31,000 33,000 
Johannes Hendrik Petrus Van Der Merwe 16,000 16,000 
Wong Sun Thiong Tchang Fa 26,000 26,000 
TOTAL 121,755  119,000 

 
 
AUDIT FEES 

Auditors’ remuneration for the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 
 

 
Audit Fees paid to EY (External 
auditors) 

USD 

2019 2018 
SACREIL  20,100  18,200 
Amani Place Properties Limited 4,950 4,750 
Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited 4,650 4,450 
Lousol Properties Mauritius 4,750 4,550 
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

(Section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act 2004) 
 
Name of Entity:  SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED  
 
Reporting Period:  1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 
 
We, the Directors of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited, confirm that to the best of our 
knowledge, Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited has complied with all of its obligations and 
requirements under the Code of Corporate Governance.  
 
 
Dated this 27 August 2020 
 
 

 

 

 

 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Tchang Fa Wong Sun Thiong 
Member of the Board 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REVIEW 
 
The Board of Directors of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (the “Company”/“SACREIL”) (the 
“Board”) endorses the utmost standards of business integrity and professionalism to ensure that the activities within 
the Company are managed ethically and sustainably to enhance business value for all stakeholders. The Board 
adheres to the code of corporate practices and conduct as set out in the National Code of Corporate Governance for 
Mauritius 2016 (the “Code”).  
 
 
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 
 
The Board is ultimately accountable and responsible for leading and controlling the Company and it assumes 
responsibility for the performance and affairs of the Company. In addition, the Board ensures that the Company 
complies with all legal and regulatory requirements in Mauritius and that the Directors are aware of their legal 
duties.  
 
Board Charter  
 
The Board has adopted a charter which regulates the roles, functions, obligations, rights, responsibilities and powers 
of the Board (the “Charter”). The Board annually reviews its Charter and updates it as needed to adjust to new 
business needs and any changes in regulatory requirements.   
 
The Charter also provides for succession planning, appointment of directors, induction of new directors and need 
for professional development. The roles of the Chairperson and Company Secretary are defined in the Board 
Charter.  
 
The Chairperson has the responsibility to ensure that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information 
and that there is a good information flow between the Board and its Committees, and between non-executive 
Directors.  
 
Board members are restricted from disclosing any information of a confidential nature regarding the business of the 
organisation and/or any companies in which it holds a stake, that came to his or her knowledge in the capacity of 
his or her work for the organisation and which he/she knows or should know to be of a confidential nature during 
his or her membership on the Board or afterwards. At the end of each Board member’s term of office, he/she is 
required to return all confidential documents in his or her possession to the organisation or guarantee their disposal 
in a manner that ensures confidentiality is preserved. 
 
Code of Ethics 
 
The Board has adopted a code of ethics which provides guidance to Directors and help them recognise and deal 
with ethical issues and help foster a culture of honesty and accountability and mechanisms to report unethical 
conduct. This code of ethics is reviewed on an annual basis by the Audit and Risk Management Committee (the 
“ARMC”) and recommended for Board approval. 
 
Organisational Structure 
 
SACREIL does not have any employees and its affairs are managed by its Board of Directors. SACREIL has 
appointed third party service providers to assist with its affairs.  
 
Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary Limited (“SAREA”) provides advisory services to the Company and 
its scope of services is set out in the Advisory Agreement entered between SAREA and the Company. SAREA is 
paid an advisory fee every quarter which is a set percentage of SACREIL’s average Gross Asset Value.  
 
SACREIL has appointed Intercontinental Trust Limited (“ITL”/“Administrator”) to provide Administration 
Services in terms of an Administration Agreement. ITL earns agreed-upon fees for providing these services.  
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Organisational Chart 
The Organisational chart of the Company is set out below: 

 
 Administrator              Advisor 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES 

Board composition 

The Board has a unitary structure which comprises three independent non-executive Directors and three non-
executive Directors. The determination of whether a Director is independent or not, and non-executive or not, is 
based on the criteria set out in the Code. Upon the instructions of the Board, the administration of the Company is 
carried out by the Advisor and the Administrator. Hence, the Company does not have a Chief Executive Officer or 
an executive director. If the circumstances or the business model of the Company change, consideration will be 
given to the appointment of a Chief Executive Officer.  
 
In a step towards ensuring Board diversity including gender diversity, Mrs. Lusanda Jakavula was appointed as a 
non-executive Director on 28 August 2019.  
 
Mr. Jacobus Petrus Möller has submitted his resignation as a Director with effect on 9 February 2020. 
 
Given the geographical spread of the markets, the size and activity of the Company, the Board is of the view that it 
is well balanced and of sufficient size to enable it to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively.  
 
Short profiles of the Directors of the Company are as follows: 

Anil Currimjee 
BA Liberal Arts, MBA (London Business School) 

Anil is the Managing Director of Currimjee Jeewanjee & Co Ltd, the flagship company of the Currimjee Group. 
Currimjee Jeewanjee & Co Ltd has operations and investments in both Mauritius and India. The Currimjee Group 
was established in 1890 with diversified activities in the following clusters: Telecoms, Media and IT, Real Estate, 
Tourism and Hospitality, Energy, Commerce and Financial Services, Food and Beverages, Home and Personal Care. 
 
Anil has occupied the post of the Former President of the Mauritius Chamber of Commerce & Industry; Former 
Director of The Mauritius Commercial Bank Ltd; Honorary Consul General of Japan in Mauritius until January 
2017; Chairman of Joint Business Council Mauritius-India, since 2004; and Director of numerous companies within 
the Currimjee Group.  
 
Number of directorship in other listed companies: 2  
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Cyril Wong Sun Thiong 
BSc (Hons), FCA 

Cyril is a non-executive director of a number of listed and non-listed companies. Cyril was a senior executive at 
Barclays Bank Mauritius Limited between 2004 and 2014. Before joining Barclays, Cyril was Head of Finance in 
Esso Mauritius Limited and British American Tobacco (Mauritius). 
 
Cyril graduated with First Class Honours in Physics from the University of Manchester and qualified as a 
Chartered Accountant with KPMG in London. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England 
and Wales and a Fellow of the Mauritius Institute of Directors. 
 
Number of directorship in other listed companies: 2 
 
Keith Robert Jefferis 
PhD (Economics) 

Keith is development macroeconomist and financial sector specialist. He is the Managing Director of Econsult 
Botswana (Pty) Ltd, and is a former Deputy Governor of the Bank of Botswana. His current activities include 
work on a range of macroeconomic, financial sector and other development policy issues in Botswana and 
elsewhere in sub-Saharan Africa, for governments, international organisations, and the private sector. He has 
served on the Committee of the Botswana Stock Exchange and currently serves on the boards of various financial 
and non-financial entities in Botswana, Mauritius and Nigeria. 
 
Number of directorship in other listed companies: None 
 
Kobus Möller 
BCom (cum laude), BCompt (Hons), CA (SA), AMP (Harvard) 

Kobus qualified as a Chartered Accountant and is also a non-executive director of Sanlam Limited and a number 
of unlisted Sanlam Group operations. He joined the Sanlam Group in 1998 and was the Sanlam Group’s Financial 
Director since 2006 up to his retirement in 2016. Prior to that, he also held the positions of Executive Director: 
Finance and Executive Director: Operations of the Sanlam Personal Finance division. Before joining Sanlam, he 
was Financial Director of Impala Platinum and prior to that held a number of financial positions in the Gencor 
group.  
 
Number of directorship in other listed companies: 1 
 
Johan van der Merwe 
BCom (Cum Laude), BCom (Hons), MCom Tax, M.Phil Finance (Cambridge), CA (SA) 

After completing his BCom (Hons) degree in 1987, from University of Pretoria, Johan started working at Deloitte & 
Touche and lecturing part-time in Accounting and Auditing. The following year he passed the qualifying Public 
Accountants & Auditors Board examination. Upon completion of his MCom (Tax) at the university in 1990, he 
proceeded to attain his MPhil Finance at Cambridge in 1991. 
 
In 1991 he moved to Gencor, where he was one of the core team members who finalised the Billiton transaction. He 
joined Investec Asset Management in 1997 as Sector Head of SA Resources, became head of Equities in 1999, was 
promoted to Global Sector Head of Resources in April 2000, and served as director and executive committee 
member. He joined Sanlam Investment Management in July 2002 as CEO. May 2003 saw his appointment as CEO 
of the Investment Cluster responsible for all the Investment businesses in the Sanlam group. 
 
As from January 2016, Johan retains only certain non-executive directorships within the Sanlam Group. He is Co-
CEO of African Rainbow Capital (Pty) Ltd and serves as director on the Boards of various other listed and unlisted 
companies. 
 
Number of directorship in other listed companies: 2 
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Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin 
BSc (Hons), MSc, FCA, TEP 

Yan is an executive director of Intercontinental Trust Limited. He specialises in the structuring and administration 
of investment funds and listed companies. He is a board member of a number of funds and listed companies in 
Mauritius. He trained as a Chartered Accountant in London and was previously with Baker Tilly Mauritius and 
Deloitte in Luxembourg. 
 
He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and of the Society of Trust 
and Estate Practitioners. He is currently the treasurer of the Association of Trust and Management Companies in 
Mauritius. 
 
Yan graduated from the University of Mauritius (BSc (Hons)) with a degree in Management and achieved a 
Masters in Finance (MSc) from Lancaster University. 
 
Number of directorship in other listed companies: 1 (Permanent Alternate Director) 
 
Lusanda Jakavula 
BCom, CA (SA) 

Lusanda is the Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director of SAREA, the Advisor.  
 
From February 2004, Lusanda was employed within the Sanlam Group in various roles from Credit Analyst, Debt 
Structuring and then Sanlam Private Equity Associate until she left in 2012. From August 2012, she joined Zungu 
Investments Company as Group Finance Director until 2018. In this role, she was responsible for the full finance and 
operational functions, as well as managing portfolio investments, including serving on the Boards and Board 
Committees of various companies within the Zungu Group.  In October 2018, she returned to Sanlam as the Chief 
Financial Officer and Executive Director of SAREA, the Advisor. She has been appointed as director in SACREIL on 
28 August 2019 and serves as director on the Boards of various unlisted companies within the SACREIL group. 
 
Lusanda is a qualified Chartered Accountant. She holds a BCom degree and a Post-Graduate Diploma in Accounting, 
both from the University of Cape Town. 
 
Number of directorship in other listed companies: None 
 
For confidentiality purposes, details of all the directorships held by the Directors have not been made public.  
 
The Board and its Committees 
 

NAME GENDER BOARD APPOINTMENT AUDIT AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE 
MEMBER (“ARMC”) 

INVESTMENT 
COMMITTEE 

MEMBER (“IC”) 

Anil Currimjee 
Mauritian 
(Chairperson of Board) 

M Non-Executive 
Independent Director 

- - 

Yan Ng Cheng Hin 
Mauritian 
 

M Non-executive Director ✓ - 

Lusanda Jakavula 
South African 
(Appointed on 28/08/19) 

F Non-executive Director 
 

- - 

Keith Robert Jefferis 
Botswanan 
(Chairperson of ARMC) 

M Non-Executive  
Independent Director 

✓ ✓ 
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Johan Van Der Merwe 
South African 
 

M Non-executive Director - - 

Jacobus Petrus Möller 
South African 
(Resigned on 
09/02/2020) 

M Non-executive Director ✓ ✓ 

Cyril Wong 
Mauritian 
 

M Non-Executive  
Independent Director 

✓ ✓ 

 
Role of the Chairperson 
 
The Chairperson of the Board is an independent non-executive Director. The role and function of the Chairperson 
is to engage with the Directors and service providers on all material matters affecting the Company and the Board, 
to preside over meetings of Directors and ensure that sufficient time is spent on the key issues faced by the 
Company. 
 
Role of the Non-executive and Independent Directors 
 
Non-executive and independent Directors play a vital role in providing independent judgement in all 
circumstances. All Directors are bound by fiduciary duties and duties of care and skill. 
 
Board Committees 
 
The Board has the responsibility to establish committees to support the efficient and effective organisation of its 
duties. It has hence set up two permanent Committees, namely an Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
an Investment Committee (the “Committees”). The Board has delegated certain roles and responsibilities to these 
Committees as defined in their respective Terms of Reference. These Committees report to the Board on matters 
discussed, and make recommendations to Board on this basis.  
 
The ultimate responsibility and accountability for the performance and affairs of the Company nevertheless 
remains with the Board. 
 
Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 
The ARMC was established on 27 June 2013 to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to: 
 

• The safeguarding of the Company’s assets; 
• The appropriateness and effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls; 
• The quality and integrity of financial reporting and disclosures, and the risks related thereto; 
• The qualification, independence, performance and fees of the external auditors of the Company; 
• The Company’s compliance with all applicable legal, regulatory and accounting requirements; 
• An assessment of service providers, including, but not limited to, the Company’s Administrator and the 

Company’s Advisor; and 
• An assessment of the adequacy or otherwise of the insurance cover taken out by the Company and investee 

companies. 
 

The Committee consists of two independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director. The Committee 
meets at least quarterly and held five meetings during the financial year ended 31 December 2019. The Committee’s 
responsibilities and duties are governed by its terms of reference that is reviewed annually. The Committee provides 
feedback to the Board following all meetings.  
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Investment Committee 
 
The Investment Committee considers and agrees to every investment or disposal to be made by SACREIL. The 
Company’s Investment Charter which sets out investment guidelines is reviewed and updated as needed to adjust 
to new business needs and any changes in regulatory requirements. 
 
The Investment Committee comprises three Directors, namely Keith Jefferis, Cyril Wong and Jacobus Möller 
(nominated by the Advisor in terms of the Company Constitution) and three further members appointed in terms 
of the provision of the Company Constitution that allows for large investors to appoint a member to the Investment 
Committee.   
 
Directors Attendance 
 

DIRECTOR BOARD ARMC 

Anil Currimjee 4/4 - 

Yan Ng Cheng Hin 4/4 3/5 

Lusanda Jakavula 
(appointed on 28/08/19) 

1/1 - 

Keith Robert Jefferis 4/4 5/5 

Jacobus Petrus Möller 4/4 4/5 

Johan Van Der Merwe 4/4 - 

Cyril Wong 4/4 5/5 

 
Given that the Company has not undertaken any new investment or considered any disposal during the year 
under review, no Investment Committee meeting was held. 
 
The Directors are able to allocate sufficient time and focus to the Company’s affairs in order to discharge their 
responsibilities effectively. 
 
Company Secretary 
 
ITL acts as the Company Secretary and Administrator of SACREIL and performs secretarial duties for the Board, 
the ARMC and the IC. 
 
ITL, a suitably qualified, competent and experienced Company Secretary, has been appointed and appropriately 
empowered to fulfil duties and provide assistance to the Board. The Company Secretary assists the Board as a whole 
and Directors individually by providing detailed guidance as to how their responsibilities should be discharged in 
the best interests of the Company. The Company Secretary also provides a central source of guidance and advice to 
the Board and the Company, on matters of ethics and good governance and assists with the appointment of 
Directors to the Board. 
 
Given the appointment of an external service provider, the Board confirms that the relationship between the Board 
and the Company Secretary remains at arm’s length. 
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DIRECTOR APPOINTMENT PROCEDURES 
 
Directors’ selection 
The Board reviews its structure, size and composition and decides on the appointment or re-appointment of 
Directors and succession plans for Directors whilst assessing the independence of the Independent Non-Executive 
Directors. Board members are selected to achieve a mix of skills and knowledge appropriate to the Company’s 
business.  
 
Appointments of new Directors during the financial year, if any, are approved by the Board. Directors appointed 
by the Board resign at the next Annual Meeting and submit themselves for re-election by the shareholders. 
Shareholders are therefore ultimately responsible for electing or removing Directors who are elected or re-elected 
annually at the Annual Meeting as the case may be.  
 
Succession Planning 

The Board assumes the responsibilities for succession planning and for the appointment and induction of new 
directors to the Board.  

Induction 

During the year under review, Mrs. Lusanda Jakavula was appointed as a Director of the Company. Since Mrs. 
Jakavula is employed by SAREA, the Company’s advisor, the Board considered that she did not require an 
induction. 

DIRECTOR DUTIES, SENIOR EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION AND PERFORMANCE 

Remuneration 
Given the business model of the Company as described in the Company profile, SACREIL does not have any 
employees and hence does not have a Remuneration Committee. The Directors do not have fixed-term contracts 
and the notice period for resignation or termination is 30 days. The fees paid to each Director for the year under 
review are as follows: 

  
RETAINER 

FEES  
BOARD 

MEETING  

AUDIT AND 
RISK 

MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE 

 EXPENSES 

DIRECTORS  USD  USD  USD  USD 

ANIL CARRIM CURRIMJEE  12,000  8,000  -  - 

YAN CHONG NG CHENG HIN1  -  -  -  - 

JOHANNES HENDRIK PETRUS VAN 
DER MERWE 

 8,000  8,000  -  - 

KEITH ROBERT JEFFERIS  8,000  8,000  15,000  - 

TCHANG FA WONG SUN THIONG  8,000  8,000  10,000  - 

JACOBUS PETRUS MÖLLER  8,000  8,000  8,000  - 

LUSANDA ZIMKITHA JAKAVULA2  2,755  2,000  -  - 

1Yan Ng’s remuneration is incorporated into the fees paid by the Company to Intercontinental Trust Limited, 
SACREIL’s administrator and company secretary. 
2Lusanda Jakavula’s remuneration is incorporated into the fees paid by the Company to SAREA, the Advisor. 
Refer to Note 7 of the financial statements.  
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The Company does not have any long-term incentive plan for Directors and the Directors have not received any 
remuneration in the form of share options or bonuses associated with organisational performance. 
 
Directors’ interests  
 
A register of Directors’ interests is maintained by the Company Secretary and Directors confirm that the list is correct 
at each quarterly Board meeting. The register is available for consultation by shareholders upon written request to 
the Company Secretary.  
 
The Company has a Conflict of Interest policy which sets out the Directors’ responsibilities in respect of potential 
and perceived conflicts of interest. Primarily, Directors are expected to avoid conflicts of interest and, where this is 
not possible, Directors have a responsibility to disclose any areas of (potential) conflict of interest to the Company, 
following which the Company, through the ARMC, will make a recommendation of the required remedial action.  
 
Related party transactions 
 
The Company has not entered into transactions with any of its Directors, other than contracts for directorship 
services which are at arm’s length and based on market rates. The Company has not entered into transactions with 
the Advisor, SAREA, nor the Administrator, ITL, other than those specifically provided for in the Advisory and 
Administration Agreements, respectively. There is no other management agreement between the Company and 
any third party which was signed during the year under review. 
 
Dealing in the shares of the Company 
 
No Director has dealt in the shares of the Company during the period under review. Should a Director wish to deal 
in the shares of the Company, such Director would follow the relevant principles and rules set out in the Stock 
Exchange of Mauritius listing rules. 
 
Evaluation  
 
The Board conducted an evaluation of its effectiveness and that of its Committees and its individual Directors 
through the circulation of a questionnaire in 2020. The outcome of this evaluation was deemed satisfactory by the 
Board. For the year under review, the evaluation process confirmed that a majority of Directors consider the 
Board to be effective and well-balanced. 
 
Information Policy 
 
The Board is ultimately responsible for information and technology (“IT”) governance. The right of access to 
information is governed by the relevant legal and regulatory framework in Mauritius including the Data Protection 
Act 2017. The Board relies on the Advisor and Administrator of the Company for IT governance which have the 
necessary security and information governance systems. The Board did not identify the need for any additional 
investment on IT governance as the current system was deemed effective for the business of the Company. 
 
RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 

Key Risk Factors and Risk Management 
 
The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. The Board, assisted 
by the ARMC, has the responsibility for the governance of risk and for determining the nature and extent of the 
principal risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. Risk is inherent in the Company’s activities, 
but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring of risks, subject to risk 
limits and other internal controls. The process of risk management is critical for the Company’s profitability. 
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Risk management and internal control structure 
 
The ARMC assists the Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities as outlined in the ARMC’s Terms of 
Reference. It helps the Board in forming an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk 
management and internal control systems. 
 
The ARMC is responsible for monitoring the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and compliance with 
ethical, professional and regulatory requirements; and for maintaining control over the provision of non-audit 
services. The external auditors are prohibited from providing non-audit services which might compromise their 
independence by requiring them to subsequently audit their own work. Any other non-audit services provided 
by the external auditors are required to be specifically approved by the Board. Audit fees are set in a manner that 
enables an effective external audit. Auditors should ensure that they observe the highest standards of business 
and professional ethics and, in particular, that their independence is not impaired in any manner. 
 
During the year under review, the ARMC has met with the external auditor without the presence of the Advisor. 
 
The ARMC is responsible for ensuring that the system of controls in place is sufficient and appropriate in order 
to enable the Company to identify and manage any risks for the Company. The ARMC reviews reports from 
SAREA on the effectiveness of financial controls. It holistically considers information brought to its attention from 
all sources and reports to the Board on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal financial controls on an annual 
basis. The ARMC has monitored and evaluated the Company’s strategic, financial, operational and compliance 
risk for the year under review. 
 
The ARMC further makes annual recommendations to the Board on the effectiveness of internal control by: 

• Discussing the process followed to review the internal control systems; 
• Reviewing information on significant internal control breakdowns provided; and 
• Consider the effectiveness of the risk management processes of the Company. 

 
The Board is satisfied with the ARMC’s review of the Company’s internal controls and risk management policies 
and systems in place. The Board recognises that the internal control system is designed to manage rather than 
eliminate the risks that have been identified and can thus only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against misstatement or loss. During the year under review, the Board has not identified any deficiency or risk in 
the Company’s system of internal controls. 
 
Risk measurement and reporting system 
 
The ARMC will examine and review the annual financial statements, the interim reports, the accompanying reports 
to shareholders, the preliminary announcement of results and any other announcement regarding the Company’s 
results or other financial information to be made public, prior to submission to, and approval by, the Board of 
Directors. The external auditors, Ernst & Young, provide independent assurance on the annual financial statements.  
 
The following are the key risk factors that have been identified as currently relating to the SACREIL business: 
 

RISK CATEGORY RISK EXPLANATION RISK MITIGATION 

Ownership Risk 

The risk that SACREIL cannot obtain full 
title, or no longer has title to an investment 
property (e.g. lease of land expires 
without renewal, changes in law, land 
claims). 

 

When acquiring an asset a thorough legal 
due diligence is conducted. 
 
The impact of changes in legislation are 
actively identified and address with the 
group’s attorneys on an ongoing basis.  

 

Structural Risk 

The risk that the investment property 
structure is no longer suitable for leasing. 
This may be due to reasons including 
structural defects, terrorist attacks, fire; 
natural disasters, changes in law. 

 

When acquiring an asset a thorough 
structural due diligence is conducted. 
Assets are adequately insured and 
monitored constantly. 
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RISK CATEGORY RISK EXPLANATION RISK MITIGATION 

Income Risk 

The risk of not being able to maintain the 
level of net income associated with the 
building, typically due to increased costs 
or vacancies. 
In-country tenant ability to afford rentals 
due to depreciation of the local currency. 

 

Long-term leases are entered into as far as 
possible. 
Property manager fees are usually a 
percentage of income collected. 
Costs are controlled and measured against 
an approved budget. 

 

Taxation Risk 

The risk of existing tax laws being 
changed, new tax laws being introduced, 
changes in the interpretation of existing 
laws. 

 

Ongoing tax advice is obtained from 
appropriate tax experts in respect of the 
regions in which SACREIL has invested. 

Currency Risk 

SACREIL has invested in assets that earn 
various currencies (USD, Cedi, Naira, 
Tanzanian Shillings), leading to the 
exposure of parts of the portfolio to the 
change in the value of a specific currency in 
relation to the USD (the calculation 
currency in which the Company’s 
performance is measured) and illiquidity in 
the forex markets of certain countries. 

Income is generally indexed to USD and 
debt funding has been obtained in USD. 
This risk is managed by converting cash at 
bank to USD periodically. Excess cash is 
then applied to service its debt and 
provide a return to its shareholders.  

 

Financing / 
Refinancing Risk 

The risk that finance will be more expensive 
than envisaged or that there is an inability 
to obtain finance. 
Breach of loan covenants due to the 
underlying properties performance. 

SACREIL has established relationships 
with various banks and financial 
institutions. 
Loan covenants are monitored 
continuously. 
Long-term facilities have been negotiated 
where deemed appropriate. 

 

Sovereign Risk 

Country specific risk including a 
government’s policies and practices 
restricting the ability of borrowers and 
investors in that country to meet their 
obligations thus affecting the ability of 
SACREIL to achieve its anticipated 
returns. 

 

The Company has approved countries 
(per the Investment Charter) which 
generally have stable governments.  
 
The impact of changes in policies and 
practices are reviewed with the group’s 
attorneys as they occur. 

 

Regulatory Risk 

The risk of not complying with regulatory 
requirements, the risk of regulations being 
changed or new regulations being 
introduced in some way affecting the 
viability of SACREIL’s investments. 

 

Advice is obtained from appropriate 
experts in respect of the regions in which 
SACREIL has invested. 

 

Execution Risk 
The risk of not acquiring assets as a result 
of being unable to conclude due diligences 
in a timeous manner. 

 

Enforcing strict adherence to timelines by 
external advisors and an efficient internal 
approval process. 

 

Economic 
Environment Risk 

The risk that the environment in which an 
asset operates significantly changes. 

 

Market intelligence is constantly obtained 
and considered by the Advisor. 
Assets are actively managed through local 
property managers. 
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REPORTING WITH INTEGRITY 

The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that fairly present the statement of affairs of 
the Company. The Company’s audited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards, the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 and other 
relevant laws and regulations. 
 
During the course of the audit for the year under review, the ARMC has discussed with the external auditors on 
significant accounting policies. 
 
Dividend policy 
 
SACREIL’s dividend policy is set out in its Constitution. A quantity termed Available Cash is computed as the profit 
earned, for the dividend period under consideration, less profits resulting from the revaluation of the underlying 
investment properties (adjusted for any deferred tax implications of those revaluations), in that period. In terms of 
the Constitution, at least 90% of Available Cash must be paid as a dividend to the Class A and Class B shareholders. 
The Board will declare dividends based on the requirements of the Constitution and Investment Charter, and 
always subject to the Mauritian Companies Act 2001. 
 
Whistleblowing Policy 
 
The Board has not adopted a whistleblowing policy. Any reasonable suspicion of fraud shall be reported to the 
Money Laundering Reporting Officer. The Board will consider the implementation of a whistleblowing policy 
should the circumstances or the business model of the Company change. 
 
Others 
 
The Company is conscious of the social and environmental impact of its operations and properties. The Board 
ensures ethical behaviour in all its dealings, such that stakeholders can expect that the Company will act in good 
faith, with no bribery ever accepted or permitted and all conflicts of interest disclosed. The Company takes all 
necessary steps to be a good corporate citizen. The Company did not provide funds for political parties or causes in 
the year under review.  
 
AUDIT 

External Auditors 
 
Ernst & Young have been appointed as auditors of the Company since incorporation and the partner has changed 
since the audit for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.  With regard to external audit, the ARMC is 
responsible for, inter-alia: 
 

• reviewing the auditors’ letter of engagement;  
• reviewing the terms, nature and scope of the audit; and its approach; 
• ensuring that no unjustified restrictions or limitations have been placed on its scope; 
• assessing the effectiveness of the audit process.  

 
The external auditors have direct access to the Committee should they wish to discuss any matters privately. During 
the financial year 2019, the external auditors contacted the members of the Audit and Risk Committee outside the 
presence of management. 
 
Internal Auditors 
 
The Company does not have an internal audit function. The Board annually considers the need for the appointment 
of an internal auditor. It has deemed that, in view of the Company’s business, this function was not currently 
necessary. Internal audit work would be carried out by external audit firms on an ad hoc basis should the ARMC 
consider it necessary. 
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RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER KEY STAKEHOLDERS 

SACREIL group of Companies has several stakeholders including the government and regulatory authorities in 
Mauritius and the countries where it has its properties, its lenders, partners and tenants among others. The 
Company’s main stakeholder remains its shareholders and it is committed to enhance shareholder value for their 
benefit.  
 
Holding structure 
 
Various companies in the Sanlam Limited (“Sanlam”) group of companies hold shares in SACREIL which, in 
aggregate, comprised 59.66% of the shares of SACREIL as at 31 December 2019. Accordingly, Sanlam is currently the 
ultimate holding company of SACREIL. The list of the Company’s substantial shareholders holding more than 5% of 
the Company is shown below: 
 
Register of substantial shareholders as at 31 December 2019 
 

Name of Shareholder  Address of Shareholder  No. of class A 
shares held 

No. of class 
B shares held 

%  Shareholding 

Sanlam Africa Real 
Estate Advisor (Pty) 
Limited 

Building 2, 11 Alice Lane, 
Sandton, Johannesburg, 2196, 
South Africa 

- 2,000,000 10.73% 

Sanlam Life Insurance 
Limited 

c/o HSBC CNC, 5th Floor, 
HSBC  Centre, 18 Cybercity, 
Ebene, Mauritius 

3,693,870 - 19.82% 

Sentinel Retirement 
Fund 

MPF House, 1 Sunnyside Drive, 
Sunnyside Park, , Johannesburg, 
2107, South Africa 

3,694,469 - 19.82% 

Agulhas Nominees 
(Pty) Limited for 
Sanlam Private  
Investments (Pty) 
Limited 

55 Willie Van Schoor Avenue, 
Bellville, 7530, South Africa 

2,833,850 - 15.21% 

Botswana Insurance 
Fund Management 
Limited 

Plot 50676, Fairgrounds, Private 
Bag Br 185, Gaborone, Botswana 

1,847,234 - 9.91% 

Old Mutual 
Investment Group (Sa) 
(Pty) Limited 

Mutual Park, Jan Smuts Drive, 
Pinelands, Parktown, 7405, 
South Africa 

1,847,234 - 9.91% 

Bnym SA/NV A/C  
Peregrine Nominees 
(Pty) Limited 

c/o HSBC DCC, 6th Floor, 
HSBC Centre, 18 Cybercity, 
Ebene, Mauritius 

1,104,219 - 5.93% 

Issued Share Capital: 18,636,509 
 
The Directors do not hold shares in the Company. 
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Share price information and dialogue with shareholders 
 
The Company regularly engages with its shareholders and stakeholders through the publication of its 
announcements, at the annual meeting and by holding meetings with them.  
 
One of the most important shareholders' related events of the year is the Annual Meeting. This meeting allows the 
Board of Directors to communicate up-to-date information on the activities of the Company to the shareholders. 
The shareholders are therefore encouraged to attend the Annual Meeting and seize the opportunity to discuss with 
the Directors.  
   
The external auditors also attend the Annual Meeting and are available to respond to queries which the shareholders 
may have with regard to their scope of work.  
  
The next Annual Meeting will be held in September 2020. 
 
Significant matters considered by the ARMC 
 
The following significant issues were assessed by the ARMC: 
 

Significant matter  ARMC Considerations 

Income Risk 

Collections of rentals - The risk of debtors not settling their debts as they become due 
arising from market pressures, was considered. To address this, short term rental 
concessions were granted on the condition that the tenant cleared all its arrears. This 
has helped improve rental collections especially in CPL.  
Risk of increased vacancies – Lease rates have had to be adjusted downwards on 
renewals in line with changing market conditions to be able to retain tenants and still 
cover operating costs. 

 

Taxation Risk 

Transfer pricing risk challenges affecting prior periods have been raised by the 
revenue authorities in the countries of operation. Tax experts and attorneys have 
been engaged to advise SACREIL and its subsidiaries to address these matters and 
respond accordingly. 

 

Financing / 
Refinancing Risk 

Refinancing risk – the settlement of the Lousol Properties Limited debt facility was 
considered and a refinancing package agreed with the lender. 
Breach of loan covenants – The risk of breaching interest cover covenants due to the 
lower rentals achieved and delays in collections, was considered. SACREIL had to 
reduce the interest rate on its shareholder loan to CPL to 0% to avoid breaching 
covenants. 

Valuation pressures 

The impact of the lower rentals and prevalent market rates on the discounted cash 
flow valuations of the properties were considered. The Advisor and the ARMC 
sought advice from valuation experts to ensure that the assumptions and valuations 
were reasonable.  

 
Website 
The documents mentioned in this report will be made available on the website of the Company 
(http://www.sacreil.com). 
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STATUTORY DISCLOSURES 
 
The Company is incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius as a private company limited by shares in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2001 (as amended). The Company was converted to a Category 1 Global Business on 29 
March 2013 and was converted to a public company on 8 April 2013. Its registered office address is at Level 3, 
Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène 72201, Mauritius. 
 
The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd since 16 May 2013 and operates as a closed-ended 
fund. The principal activity of the Company is to hold investments in core real estate assets in select sub-Saharan 
African countries. The Company aims to provide investors with both dollar-based income yield and longer term 
capital growth. 
 
The directors of the Company were as follows as at 31 December 2019: 

• Anil Carrim Currimjee  
• Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula  
• Keith Robert Jefferis  
• Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin  
• Wong Sun Thiong Tchang Fa  
• Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe 
• Jacobus Petrus Möller  

 
Directorship of subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 
 
Amani Place Properties Limited 

• Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula  
• Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin  
• Kesaven Moothoosamy 
• Michael Paul Williams 

 
The following changes occurred during the year under review: 

• Charl Viljoen resigned as Director on 30 July 2019 
• Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula and Michael Paul Williams were appointed as Directors on 9 October 2019 

 
Lousol Properties Mauritius 

• Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula  
• Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin  
• Kesaven Moothoosamy 
• Michael Paul Williams 

 
The following changes occurred during the year under review: 

• Charl Viljoen resigned as Director on 30 July 2019 
• Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula and Michael Paul Williams were appointed as Directors on 9 October 2019 

 
Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited 

• Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula  
• Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin  
• Kesaven Moothoosamy 
• Michael Paul Williams 

 
The following changes occurred during the year under review: 

• Charl Viljoen resigned as Director on 30 July 2019 
• Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula and Michael Paul Williams were appointed as Directors on 9 October 2019 



  
SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019                                                                                               26. 
 
Interests in the shares of the Company 
 
The directors do not have any interest in the shares of the Company for the reporting period (2018: Nil). 
 
Directors’ services contracts 
 
The Directors do not have any service contract with the Company for the reporting period (2018: Nil). 
 
Donations 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries did not make any donations in the year under review (2018: Nil). 
 
Major transaction 
 
The Company did not enter into any major transaction during the year under review. 
 
Directors’ remuneration for the Company as at 31 December 2019 
 
Name of Director 2019 (USD) 2018 (USD) 
Jacobus Petrus Moller 24,000 24,000 
Anil Carrim Currimjee 20,000 20,000 
Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula 4,755 - 
Keith Robert Jefferis 31,000 33,000 
Johannes Hendrik Petrus Van Der Merwe 16,000 16,000 
Wong Sun Thiong Tchang Fa 26,000 26,000 
TOTAL 121,755  119,000 

 
Auditors’ remuneration for the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 
 

 
Audit Fees paid to EY (External 
auditors) 

USD 

2019 2018 
SACREIL  20,100  18,200 
Amani Place Properties Limited 4,950 4,750 
Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited 4,650 4,450 
Lousol Properties Mauritius 4,750 4,550 

 



  
SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED  
CERTIFICATE FROM THE SECRETARY 
UNDER SECTION 166 (D) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2001                                  27. 
 
We certify, to the best of our knowledge and belief, that Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (‘’the 
Company’’) has filed with the Registrar of Companies, all such returns as are required of the Company under 
Section 166 (d) of the Companies Act 2001 for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
 
 
 

 
Intercontinental Trust Limited 
COMPANY SECRETARY  
 
 
Date: 27 August 2020 
 
 
Level 3 
Alexander House 
35 Cybercity 
Ebene 72201 
MAURITIUS 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED            

 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial statements of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (the 
“Company”) set out on pages 33 to 69 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, 
and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting 
policies. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of, the financial position of the Company as at 
31 December 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the Companies Act 2001 and the Financial 
Reporting Act 2004. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountant’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in 
that context.  
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the 
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the 
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements. 
 

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit 
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 
 
The Company mainly invests in unlisted entities, 
which operates in the real estate sector. These 
financial assets make up 90% of the total assets of the 
company.   
 
The fair value of unquoted equity is determined as its 
proportion of the investee’s net asset value. The fair 
value of the underlying assets of the investees is 
arrived at using complex valuation techniques such as 
discounted cash flows. The valuations are subjective 
in nature and involve various judgemental 
assumptions such as risk-free rate, risk premium and 
future cash flows, and depend on unobservable 
inputs. The use of different assumptions could 
produce significantly different estimates of fair value. 
The associated risk management disclosure is 
complex and dependent on high quality data.  

Our procedures included the following among others:  
 
We obtained the valuation reports for the underlying 
assets in the investee and; 

- Considered whether the application of 
methodologies, assumptions and inputs are 
consistent with generally accepted valuation 
methodologies and prior periods’ 
methodologies, assumptions and input; 

- Evaluated the valuation inputs and 
assumptions such as discount rates, rental 
income projection and capitalization rates by 
performing independent checks against 
external sources; and 

- Evaluated the objectivity and competence of 
the external valuators used in the valuations  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED (CONTINUED)       

 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
Key Audit Matters (continued) 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 
 
Refer to Note 2.2 (a) for the accounting policy of 
financial instruments, and Note 4 for the disclosure of 
fair values of financial instruments 

Our procedures included the following among others:  
 
 
We compared the inputs used in the net asset value 
calculations to the audited financial statements of the 
investees.  
 
We assessed whether the financial statement 
disclosures, including sensitivity to key inputs, 
appropriately reflect the Company’s exposure to 
financial instrument valuation risk. 

Financial guarantee 
 
The Company acted as guarantor to support the funding 
requirements of Lousol Properties Limited (LPL) with 
regards to the repayment of its loan undertaking with 
Standard Chartered Bank (Nigeria) Limited (“SCB 
(Nigeria)”). The original terms of the loan between LPL 
and SCB (Nigeria) stipulated that, in the event of default 
by LPL, the Company would guarantee to repay any 
outstanding debt amount. At the reporting date, the 
balance outstanding of the loan was USD 14,885,573 and 
the financial guarantee provided by the Company was 
for an equivalent amount.  As at the reporting date, LPL 
was in default of the repayment of the loan. 
 
In December 2019, LPL negotiated a refinancing plan 
with SCB (Nigeria), whereby an additional injection of 
capital of USD 4.9 million (by the Company in Lousol 
Properties Mauritius) plus a renegotiated loan of USD 
10 million would be used to repay the outstanding loan 
balance and the guarantee of USD 14,885,573 would 
effectively be erased and be replaced by new guarantee 
of USD 10,000,000.  The finalised agreement of the 
refinancing plan was signed on 7 August 2020 between 
Lousol Properties Limited, Lousol Properties Mauritius, 
Standard Chartered Bank, Standard Chartered Bank 
Nigeria Limited, Standard Chartered Bank (Mauritius) 
Limited and FBNQuest Trustees Limited (acting as 
security agent). According to the final amended 
agreement, Standard Chartered Bank (Mauritius) 
Limited is to provide a new loan tranche of USD 
10,000,000 to Lousol Properties Mauritius, for which the 
Company acts as a guarantor. The Company is to also 
make a capital injection of USD 4,885,573 in Lousol 
Properties Mauritius. 

Our procedures included the following among others:  
 

- We have examined the minutes during the 
year and identified the financial difficulty of 
LPL to repay the loan balance outstanding at 
year end and identified the negotiations 
entered by the relevant parties for the 
refinancing plans; 

- We have reviewed the original loan agreement 
and related documents which establish the 
original guarantee of the Company; 

- We examined the terms of the Amended and 
Restatement Agreement; 

- We examined the terms of the new Deed of 
Guarantee entered by the Company for the 
new tranche of USD 10,000,000; 

- We discussed with management and the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee of the 
Company regarding the refinancing plans and 
the new financial guarantee; 

- We obtained appropriate board papers in 
relation to the loan refinancing, including the 
cash-flow forecasts of Lousol Properties 
Mauritius and Lousol Properties Limited and 
the planned accounting treatment for the loan 
refinancing; 

- We agreed the planned accounting treatment 
of the loan refinancing to the Amended and 
Restatement Agreement; and 

- We assessed whether the financial statement 
disclosures relating to the financial guarantee 
and subsequent event are adequate and 
appropriately reflect the aforesaid situations 
and documents reviewed. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED (CONTINUED)       

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
Key Audit Matters (continued) 

Through a shareholder’s loan to LPL from Lousol 
Properties Mauritius, the outstanding loan balance in 
LPL with SCB (Nigeria) would then be extinguished. 

The outstanding financial guarantee at 31 December 
2019 required an assessment as to whether or not a full 
provision for repayment of the liability arising on the 
said guarantee was required because of the default by 
LPL in its repayments to SCB (Nigeria).  The 
refinancing agreement between the various parties, 
including the new guarantee to replace the former one, 
was crystallised subsequent to year end, even though 
negotiations commenced, and terms and conditions 
were agreed upon, before the reporting date, thus 
giving rise to an adjusting post balance sheet event. 

Our procedures included the following among 
others:  
 
We assessed whether the signature of the documents 
linked to the financial restructuring on 7 August 2020 
constituted an adjusting event after the reporting 
date. 
 

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Commentary of the 
Directors, Corporate governance report and the Certificate from the Company Secretary as required by the 
Companies Act 2001, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the Annual Report which 
is expected to be made available to us after that date. Other information does not include the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above (other than the Corporate Governance Report) and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the Annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 
communicate the matter to those charged with governance 

Corporate Governance Report  

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Corporate Governance Report. Our responsibility under the 
Financial Reporting Act is to report on the compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance (“the Code”) 
disclosed in the Annual report and assess the explanations given for non-compliance with any requirement of 
the Code. From our assessment of the disclosures made on corporate governance in the annual report, the public 
interest entity has, pursuant to section 75 of the Financial Reporting Act, complied with the requirements of the 
Code. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2001, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED (CONTINUED)       

    
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control.  

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the directors.  
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Company to express an opinion on the Company financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Company audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED (CONTINUED)       

    
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.  
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.  
 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Section 205 of the Companies 
Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's 
members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  
 
Companies Act 2001 
 
We have no relationship with or interests in the Company other than in our capacity as auditors, and dealings in 
the ordinary course of business.   
 
We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required.   
 
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from our 
examination of those records. 

     
ERNST & YOUNG DARYL CSIZMADIA, (S.A) C.A 
Ebène, Mauritius Licensed by FRC 
 
 
Date: 27 August 2020  



  
SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED  
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019                                                                                               33. 
 
  Notes 2019  2018 
    USD  USD 
INCOME        
Interest income 6 93,824   161,982 
Dividend income 6 890,000  1,575,000 
  

 
 983,824    1,736,982 

EXPENSES      
Accounting fees  (56,280)   (56,280) 
Advisory fees 7 (1,406,793)   (1,467,895) 
Audit fees  (23,460)   (21,275) 
Bank charges  (5,097)  (9,443) 
Directors fees 8 (122,547)   (120,572) 
Disbursements  (1,627)   (3,073) 
Due diligence fees  -  (560,414) 
Legal fees  -  (40,975) 
Licence fees  (21,483)   (21,866) 
Net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4 (15,464,812)  (3,019,952) 
Other expenses  (19,857)   (37,463) 
Professional fees 9 (67,650)   (64,097) 
Receivable written off  10(ii) (20,000)  (20,000) 
   (17,209,606)   (5,443,305) 
       
OPERATING LOSS  (16,225,782)   (3,706,323) 
     
Finance Costs     
Distribution to shareholders 11 -  

(1,118,185) 
LOSS BEFORE TAX  (16,225,782)  (4,824,508) 
     
Income tax expense 12 -   - 
     
DECREASE IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
SHAREHOLDERS FROM OPERATIONS 

 
(16,225,782)  (4,824,508) 

     
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 37 to 69 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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  Notes 2019  2018 
  USD  USD 

ASSETS        
Cash and cash equivalents 13 7,477,636   4,881,150 
Loan receivable 5 429,412   3,829,412 
Other receivables and prepayments 10(i) 401,207   375,003 
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 4 73,913,012   89,377,824 
     

TOTAL ASSETS  82,221,267   98,463,389 
     
LIABILITIES                                                                                                                         
Advisory fees payable 7 (344,177)  (363,035) 
Other payables and accruals 15 (78,333)  (75,815) 
     
     

TOTAL LIABILITIES EXCLUDING NET ASSETS 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS  (422,510)   (438,850) 
     
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS  81,798,757   98,024,539 
     
     
     
Net assets attributable to:     
- Class A 16 73,020,286  87,504,769 
- Class B 16 8,778,371  10,519,670 
- Class C 16 100  100 
     
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS   81,798,757  98,024,539 
 
 

Approved by the Board of Directors on 27 August 2020 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 

       
 
     
 
               DIRECTOR       DIRECTOR 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 37 to 69 form an integral part of these financial statements. 



  
SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED  
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 Net assets attributable to   
 Class A  Class B  Class C  Total 

 USD  USD  USD  USD 
2018        
At 1 January 2018 91,811,526  11,037,421  100  102,849,047 
Decrease in net assets attributable to 
shareholders from operations  (4,306,757)  (517,751)  -  (4,824,508) 
At 31 December 2018 87,504,769  10,519,670  100  98,024,539 
        
Number of shares in issue  16,636,409  2,000,000  100   
Net Asset Value per share USD 5.2598   USD 5.2598  USD 1   
 
 
2019 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

At 1 January 2019 87,504,769  10,519,670  100  98,024,539 
Decrease in net assets attributable to 
shareholders from operations  (14,484,483)  (1,741,299)  -  (16,225,782) 
At 31 December 2019 73,020,286  8,778,371  100  81,798,757 
        
Number of shares in issue  16,636,409  2,000,000  100 
Net Asset Value per share USD 4.3892   USD 4.3892   USD 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 37 to 69 form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019                                                                                    36.  
  

Notes 2019  2018   
USD  USD 

Cash flows from operating activities 
  

 
 

Decrease in net assets attributable to shareholders from 
operations 

 
(16,225,782)  (4,824,508) 

Adjustments for:     
Dividend income  (890,000)  (1,575,000) 
Interest income  (93,824)  (161,982) 
Decrease in financial assets designated at fair value through 
profit or loss 

 
4 15,464,812  3,019,952 

Distribution expense  -  1,118,185 
   Changes in operating assets and liabilities     

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments 10 (26,204)  1,357 
Decrease in advisory fees payable 7 (18,858)  (12,346) 
Increase/(decrease) in other payables 15 2,518  (2,387) 
     

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,787,338)  (2,436,729)   
  

 

Cash flows from investing activities 
 

  
 

Loan repayment received 5 3,400,000  - 
Loan advance 4 -  (1,700,000) 
Dividend received  890,000  1,575,000 
Interest received  93,824  293,317 
     

Net cash flows generated from investing activities 
 

4,383,824  168,317 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Distribution to shareholders  -   (1,118,185) 

Net cash flows used in financing activities  -  (1,118,185) 
     
       

  
 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
 

2,596,486  (3,386,597) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

 
4,881,150  8,267,747 

     
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 

 
7,477,636  4,881,150 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 37 to 69 form an integral part of these financial statements.  



  
SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019                                                                                                   37. 

 
1. LEGAL FORM AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 

Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (the "Company") was incorporated in the Republic of 
Mauritius as a private company limited by shares in accordance with the Companies Act 2001.  The 
Company was converted to a Category 1 Global Business on the 29 March 2013 and was converted to a 
public company on the 08 April 2013.  Its registered office is Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene, 
72201, Mauritius. 

The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius as from 16 May 2013 and operates as a closed-
ended fund. The principal activity of the Company is to hold investments in core real estate assets in select 
Sub Saharan African countries. The Company aims to provide investors with both dollar based income 
yield and longer term capital growth.  

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 were authorised for issue 
in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 27 August 2020. 

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 

The financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial instruments 
at fair value through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value. 

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD”) and all values are rounded to the 
nearest USD.  

2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

a) Financial instruments 

(i)       Classification  

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial 
recognition into the categories of financial assets and financial liabilities discussed below. 

In applying that classification, a financial asset or financial liability is considered to be held for trading if: 

 It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term; Or 
 On initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed 

together and for which, there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; Or 
 It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 

effective hedging instrument) 

Financial assets 

The Company classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured at fair 
value through profit or loss on the basis of both: 

 The Company’s business model for managing the financial assets 
 The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to 
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
The Company includes in this category loan receivables, cash and cash equivalents and other receivables. 
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2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

a) Financial instruments (Continued) 

(i)      Classification (Continued) 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss  

A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss if: 

 Its contractual terms do not give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding; Or 

 It is not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or to 
both collect contractual cash flows and sell; Or 

 At initial recognition, it is irrevocably designated as measured at fair value through profit or loss when 
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on 
different bases. 

The Company includes in this category: 

 Investment in subsidiaries: In accordance with the exception under IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements, the Company does not consolidate subsidiaries in the financial statements since it has taken 
the investment entity exception available under IFRS 10. Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for 
as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.  
 

 Investment in joint venture: The Company, being an investment entity, has designated its investment in 
joint venture on initial recognition in accordance with the election permitted in IAS 28 Investments in 
Associates and Joint ventures, at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. 
 

 Loans to related parties which are managed on a fair value basis with investments and which are not 
held to collect contractual cashflow. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss  

A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit or loss if it meets the definition of held for 
trading. 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. The Company includes in this category its short-term payables. 

(ii)    Recognition  

The Company recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when it becomes party to the contractual 
provision of the instrument. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the 
date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.  
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2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
a) Financial instruments (Continued) 
 
(iii)    Initial measurement 
 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial 
position at fair value. All transaction costs for such instruments are recognised directly in profit or loss. 
Financial assets and liabilities (other than those classified at fair value through profit or loss) are measured 
initially at their fair value plus any directly attributable incremental cost of acquisition or issue. 

 
(iv)     Subsequent measurement 
 

After initial measurement, the Company measures financial instruments which are classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss, at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial 
instruments are recorded in net gain or loss on financial assets as at fair value through profit or loss. Interest 
and dividend earned on these instruments are recorded separately in interest income and dividend income. 
 
Loans and receivables, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method (EIR), less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated 
by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in profit or loss. The losses arising from 
impairment are recognised in profit or loss.  
 
Financial liabilities, other than those classified at fair value through profit or loss, are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fee or costs that are an 
integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in profit or loss.  
 

(v)  Derecognition 
 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is derecognised when: 

 
- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired. 
 
- The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-
through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

 
When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Company’s 
continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The 
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations 
that the Company has retained. 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligations under the liability are all discharged or cancelled 
or expire. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and 
the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
a) Financial instruments (Continued) 
 
(vi)     Impairment of financial asset  
 

The impairment model in IFRS 9 is based on the premise of providing for expected losses. IFRS 9 requires 
that the same impairment model apply to all of the following: 
 
 Financial assets measured at amortised cost; and 
 Loan commitments when there is a present obligation to extend credit (except where these are 

measured at FVTPL). 

The Company holds only receivables with no financing component and which have maturities of less than 
12 months at amortised cost and, as such, has chosen to apply the simplified approach for expected credit 
losses (ECL) under IFRS 9 to all its receivables. Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit 
risk, but instead, recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. 
 
The Company’s approach to ECLs reflects a probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and 
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date 
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 
 
The Company considers an instrument to be in default when internal or external information indicates 
that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full, that is, the Company 
presumes that default shall occur at 90 days past due. It includes information such as performance of the 
borrower and the market in which it operates. This will result in an additional counterparty specific 
impairment. Write off occurs when the Company is certain that the amount is not recoverable, i.e. when 
the borrower is unable to repay and has poor cash flows.  

 
(vii) Offsetting of financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 
(viii) Fair value of financial instruments 
 

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined 
by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price 
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. 

 
For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate 
valuation techniques. Such techniques may include:  
 
-  Using recent arm’s length market transactions 
-  Reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same 
-  A discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models 

 
An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are 
provided in Note 4. 
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2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

b) Foreign currency translations 

 
Functional and presentation currency 

 
The primary objective of the Company is to generate returns and capital growth in USD for the benefit of 
its shareholders. The assets and liabilities of the Company and the cash flows are predominantly USD 
denominated. The Company's performance is evaluated in USD. Therefore the Board of Directors considers 
USD as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effect of the underlying transactions, 
events and conditions. Therefore the Company’s functional and presentation currency is the USD. 

 
Transactions and balances 

 
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transactions. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. 
 
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses on financial 
instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are included in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income as part of the ‘net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’. 
 

c) Revenue recognition  
 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company 
and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  

 
The following specific criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

 
d) Interest income 

 
Interest income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for all 
interest-bearing financial instruments using the EIR method. 

 
e) Dividend income 

 
Dividend income is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established. 
 

f) Expense recognition 
 

All expenses are accounted for in profit or loss on an accrual basis. 
 

g) Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. For the purpose of the statement of 
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank.  
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2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

h) Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the 
Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a 
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision 
is presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement.  

 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate 
that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase 
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
 

i) Interest expense 
 

Interest expense is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for all 
interest – bearing financial instruments using the EIR. 
 

j) Redeemable participating shares 
 

Redeemable participating shares are redeemable at the shareholders’ or the Company’s option upon such 
terms and conditions as stated in the Company’s Constitution and are classified as financial liabilities 
(designated at fair value through profit or loss, due to the fact that the shares are part of a group of financial 
assets which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment strategy). The liabilities arising from the redeemable shares 
are carried at the redemption amount being the net asset value calculated in accordance with IFRS. 

 
Please see note 16 to the financial statements for further details on the redeemable participating shares. 

 
k) Current income tax 

 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the 
Company operates and generates taxable income.  

 
Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the 
statement of profit or loss. The Company periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 
provisions where appropriate. 
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2.2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

l) Deferred tax 
 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

 
In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused 
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 
 
When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

 
- In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable 
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

 
- Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year 

when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

 
m) Distribution to shareholders 

 
Unrealised gains and losses are included in the net assets attributable to shareholders and are distributable 
as follows: 
 
Class A shareholders 
The Company’s Constitution provides that a minimum dividend of 90% of Available Cash (as that term is 
defined in the Company’s Constitution) must be declared as dividends, but does not specify a maximum 
dividend.  
 
Class B shareholders – Additional Dividend 
In addition to the pro-rata Class A dividend, the Class B Shares confer the right to receive an Additional 
Dividend should certain hurdle target returns for the Company be exceeded. At a high level, to the extent 
the Company’s return exceeds 10% but is below 15%, the Additional Dividend is 15% of the excess, and to 
the extent the Company’s return exceeds 15%, the Additional Dividend is 20% of the excess. In order for 
the Additional Dividend to be ultimately declared, the Company’s Net Asset Value in the following year 
must be no less than 10% higher as compared to the previous year’s Net Asset Value.  
 
Distributions to shareholders are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income as finance costs. Distributions to shareholders are subject to the solvency requirements of the 
Companies Act 2001. 
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2.3  CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the 
following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations adopted in the year commencing 1 January 
2019: 
 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements 2015–2017 

Cycle (remeasurement of previously held interest) 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Amendments regarding prepayment features with negative 

compensation and modifications of financial liabilities  
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements - Amendments regarding the sale or contribution of assets 

between an investor and its associate or joint venture 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements - Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements 2015–2017 Cycle 

(remeasurement of previously held interest) 
IFRS 16 Leases – Original issue 
IAS 12 Income Taxes - Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements 2015-2017 cycle (income 

tax consequences of payments on financial instruments classified as equity) 
IAS 19 Employee Benefits - Amendments regarding plan amendments, curtailments or settlements  
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs - Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements 2015-2017 cycle     

(borrowings costs eligible for capitalisation) 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Amendments regarding long-term interests in 

associates and joint ventures 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Amendments regarding the sale or 

contribution between an investor and its associates or joint ventures 
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment 

 
Where the adoption of the standard or interpretation or improvement is deemed to have an impact on the 
financial statements or performance of the Company, its impact is described on the following pages: 

 
IFRS 16 Leases  
 
IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-
15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal 
Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise most leases on the balance sheet. 
 
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify 
leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles as in IAS 17. Therefore, IFRS 16 does 
not have an impact for leases where the entity is the lessor. 
 
The Company has assessed the impact of the standard and has concluded that there is no impact on its 
financial statements. 
 

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial instruments: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation  
 
Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding’ (the SPPI criterion) and the instrument is held within the 
appropriate business model for that classification. The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that a financial asset 
passes the SPPI criterion regardless of an event or circumstance that causes the early termination of the 
contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable compensation for the early termination 
of the contract. The Company has assessed the impact of this amendment and has concluded that there is 
no impact on its financial statements. 
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment  

This Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty 
that affects the application of IAS 12 Income Taxes. It does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope 
of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with 
uncertain tax treatments. The Interpretation specifically addresses the following:  
 Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately  
 The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities  
 How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 

tax rates  
 How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances  

The Company determines whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with 
one or more other uncertain tax treatments and uses the approach that better predicts the resolution of the 
uncertainty. The Company applies significant judgement in identifying uncertainties over income tax 
treatments. The Company has assessed the impact of this standard and has concluded that there is no 
impact on its financial statements. 

 
Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement  

The amendments to IAS 19 address the accounting when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement 
occurs during a reporting period. The amendments specify that when a plan amendment, curtailment or 
settlement occurs during the annual reporting period, an entity is required to determine the current service 
cost for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement, using the actuarial 
assumptions used to remeasure the net defined benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under 
the plan and the plan assets after that event. An entity is also required to determine the net interest for the 
remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement using the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after that event, and the 
discount rate used to remeasure that net defined benefit liability (asset). The Company has assessed the 
impact of this amendment and has concluded that there is no impact on its financial statements. 

 
Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures 

The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture 
to which the equity method is not applied but that, in substance, form part of the net investment in the 
associate or joint venture (long-term interests). This clarification is relevant because it implies that the 
expected credit loss model in IFRS 9 applies to such long-term interests.  

The amendments also clarified that, in applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any losses of the 
associate or joint venture, or any impairment losses on the net investment, recognised as adjustments to 
the net investment in the associate or joint venture that arise from applying IAS 28 Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures. The Company has assessed the impact of this amendment and has 
concluded that there is no impact on its financial statements. 
 
IAS 12 Income Taxes: Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements 2015-2017 cycle (income tax 
consequences of payments on financial instruments classified as equity) 

The amendments clarify that the income tax consequences of dividends are linked more directly to past 
transactions or events that generated distributable profits than to distributions to owners. Therefore, an 
entity recognises the income tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive income 
or equity according to where it originally recognised those past transactions or events.  

An entity applies the amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with 
early application permitted. When the entity first applies those amendments, it applies them to the income 
tax consequences of dividends recognised on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period. The 
Company has assessed the impact of this amendment and has concluded that there is no impact on its 
financial statements. 
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2.4 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 

The following standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations were in issue but not yet 
effective. They are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on the specified dates, but the Company 
has not early adopted them: 
 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Amendments regarding definition of a business (effective 1 January 

2020) 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Amendments updating a reference to the Conceptual Framework 

(effective 1 January 2022) 
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Amendments regarding pre-replacement issues in the 

context of the IBOR reform (effective 1 January 2020) 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Amendments regarding pre-replacement issues in the context of the 

IBOR reform (effective 1 January 2020) 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 

2018–2020 (fees in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities) (effective 1 
January 2022) 

IFRS 16 Leases - Amendment to provide lessees with an exemption from assessing whether a COVID-
19-related rent concession is a lease modification (effective 1 June 2020) 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts - Original issue (effective 1 January 2021) 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts - Amendments to address concerns and implementation challenges that 

were identified after IFRS 17 was published (effective 1 January 2023) 
IAS 1  Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments regarding the definition of material 

(effective 1 January 2020) 
IAS 8  Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors – Amendment to defer the 

effective date of the January 2020 amendments (effective 1 January 2023) 
IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets - Amendments regarding the costs to 

include when assessing whether a contract is onerous (effective 1 January 2022) 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Amendments regarding pre-

replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform (effective 1 January 2020) 
 
Conceptual framework 
Amendments to IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 6, IFRS 14, IAS 1, IAS 8, IAS 34, IAS 37, IAS 38, IFRIC 12, IFRIC 19, 
IFRIC 20, IFRIC 22, and SIC-32 to update those pronouncements with regard to references to and quotes 
from the framework or to indicate where they refer to a different version of the Conceptual Framework 
(effective 1 January 2020) 
 
The Company is still assessing the potential impact of those standards and amendments to existing 
standards on its financial statements. 
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3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires the Board of Directors to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, 
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods. 
 
Judgements  
 
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Board of Directors has made the 
following judgements which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. 
 

(i) Assessment as investment entity 
 
IFRS 10 Investment Entities requires entities that meet the definition of an investment entity to apply the 
exception from consolidation and equity accounting, and instead account for its investments in subsidiaries 
and joint venture at fair value through profit or loss. The Company undertook an assessment and 
concluded that it is an investment entity as follows: 

 
The Company currently has four investments and intends to make additional investments to grow its asset 
base; the investments are predominantly be in the form of equities. The Company has several investors 
since its listing. The Company has been deemed to meet the definition of an investment entity per IFRS 10 
as the following conditions exist: 
 
a) The Company’s private placement memorandum (PPM) details its objective of providing investment 

management services to investors; 
 
b) The Company’s business purpose, which was communicated directly to investors through its PPM, is 

investing solely for returns from capital appreciation and investment income; and 
 
c) The performance of investments is measured and evaluated on a fair value basis. The Company 

reports to its investors on a quarterly basis as per the Stock Exchange of Mauritius listing rules and to 
its management, via internal management reports, on a fair value basis. The Company has an exit 
strategy for all its investments. 

 
The Board of Directors has concluded that the Company meets the definition of an investment entity. These 
conclusions will be reassessed on an annual basis, if any of these criteria or characteristics change. 

 
(ii)  Determination of functional currency 
 

The primary objective of the Company is to generate returns and capital growth in USD for the benefit of 
its shareholders. The assets and liabilities of the Company and the cash flows are predominantly USD 
denominated. The Company's performance is evaluated in USD. Therefore the Board of Directors considers 
USD as the currency that most accurately represents the economic effect of the underlying transactions, 
events and conditions.  
 
Estimates and assumptions 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 
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3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED) 

 
Estimates and assumptions (continued) 

 
(i) Fair value of financial instruments  

 
When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position 
cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value is determined using valuation techniques. The 
inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible but, where this is not feasible, a 
degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations of 
inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about 
these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments (refer to note 4 for fair value 
disclosure). 

 
(ii) Taxes  

 
Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and changes in tax laws on 
foreign withholding tax. Given the wide range of international investments, differences arising between 
the actual investment income and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could 
necessitate future adjustments to tax expense. The Company establishes provisions, based on reasonable 
estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it 
invests. The amounts of such provisions are based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax 
audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax 
authority. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the 
conditions prevailing in the respective investment’s domicile.  
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is 
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon likely timing 
and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies (refer to note 12 for tax 
note disclosure). 
 

(iii) Expected credit losses 
 

The ECL model applies to debt instruments accounted for at amortised cost or at FVOCI, most loan 
commitments, financial guarantee contracts, contract assets under IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers and lease receivables under IAS 17 Leases or IFRS 16 Leases. Entities are generally required to 
recognise 12-month ECL on initial recognition (or when the commitment or guarantee was entered into) 
and thereafter as long as there is no significant deterioration in credit risk. However, if there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk on an individual or collective basis, then entities are required to recognise 
lifetime ECL. For trade receivables, a simplified approach may be applied whereby the lifetime ECL are 
always recognised. 

 
Amount receivable from related parties 
An analysis was made in order to quantify the current impairments recognized and carrying value of loans 
at the level of Amani Place Properties Limited (“APPL”) and Lousol Properties Limited (“LPL”) amounting 
to USD 429,412 (2018: USD 3,829,412) and USD 384,793 (USD 2018: USD 358,793). The Company has 
concluded that no ECL is to be recognised as it is immaterial and there has been no anticipated default or 
history of default on the amount receivables. However, during the year, the Company has written off 
receivables amounting to USD 20,000 (2018: USD 20,000) owed by Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited. This 
assessment has been undertaken through examining the financial position of the related party. 
 
Financial guarantee 
SACREIL is the Guarantor to support Lousol Properties Limited (‘LPL’) for the repayment of the 
outstanding USD 14,885,573 loan from Standard Chartered Bank Nigeria (‘SCBN’), which was due for 
redemption on 2 December 2019. Subsequent to year end, a refinancing agreement was concluded and a 
revised guarantee agreement also entered into. The Company has therefore concluded that no ECL is 
required on the USD 14,885,573 loan and related guarantee.  
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4.         FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

 
As at 31 December 2019, the following financial instruments were carried at fair value in the statement of 
financial position: 
 

 
 

 
Name of investee 
company  

Country of 
incorporation  

Nature of 
activity  

Number and 
type of shares  

% 
Holding 

  
Fair Value 

(USD) 
           

Accra Mall 
(Mauritius) Limited 

 Mauritius  Investment 
holding 

 172,501 
Ordinary shares 

 50%  34,880,374 

Amani Place 
Properties Limited 

 Mauritius  Investment 
holding 

 1,000 Ordinary 
shares 

 100%  24,899,535 
 

Amani Place 
Properties Limited 

 Mauritius  Investment 
holding 

 Loan  -  1,432,065 

Lousol Properties 
Mauritius 

 Mauritius  Investment 
holding 

 Loan   -  12,701,038 

Sacreil Oddlot 
Holdings Limited 

 Mauritius  Investment 
holding 

 100 Ordinary 
shares  

 100%  - 

          73,913,012 

 
 

Name of investee 
company 

 Country of 
incorporation 

 Nature of 
activity 

 Number and  
type of shares 

 % 
Holding 

 Fair 
Value 
(USD) 

           
Accra Mall 
(Mauritius) Limited 

 Mauritius  Investment 
holding 

 172,501 
Ordinary shares  

 50%  40,457,256 

Amani Place 
Properties Limited 

 Mauritius  Investment 
holding 

 1,000 Ordinary 
shares  

 100%  28,528,002 

Amani Place 
Properties Limited 

 Mauritius  Investment 
holding 

 Loan  -  1,432,065 

Lousol Properties 
Mauritius 

 Mauritius  Investment 
holding 

 Loan   -  18,960,501 

Sacreil Oddlot 
Holdings Limited 

 Mauritius  Investment 
holding 

 100 Ordinary 
shares  

 100%  - 

          89,377,824 

 
 
 
 
 

As at 31 December 2019 2019  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 
USD  USD  USD  USD 

 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:  

       

Investment in equity shares  73,913,012  -  -  73,913,012 
 
 

       

As at 31 December 2018 2018  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 
USD  USD  USD  USD 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:         
Investment in equity shares  89,377,824  -  -  89,377,824 
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4.         FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED) 
 

Fair value hierarchy 
 
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments by valuation on technique: 

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.  

Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable. 
 
Transfers between levels 
 
There was no transfer between fair value hierarchies during the year (2018: no transfer). 
 
Reconciliation of recurring fair value measurements of Level 3 financial instruments 
 
The Company carries unquoted equity shares classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss instruments. A reconciliation of the beginning and closing balances including movements of 
investment in equity classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy is summarised below: 

 2019  2018 
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss USD  USD 
    
At beginning of year 89,377,824  70,609,481 
Re-classifications following adoption of IFRS 9 -  20,088,295 
Loan advances -  1,700,000 
Net unrealised changes in fair value of financial assets through profit or loss (15,464,812)  (3,019,952) 
    
At 31 December  73,913,012  89,377,824 
    
Net unrealised changes in fair value of financial assets through profit or loss (15,464,812)  (3,019,952) 

 
Valuation techniques 
 
Unlisted equity investments 
 
The Company invests in companies which are not quoted in an active market. Transactions in such 
investments do not occur on a regular basis. The Company uses a market based valuation technique for 
these positions. 

 
Valuation process for Level 3 valuations 
 
The fair value of unquoted equity shares held by the Company is determined as its proportion of the 
investee company’s shareholder equity or net asset value. In terms of the Company’s Constitution, the 
Board of Directors has appointed independent external valuers to fair value the investment properties held 
by the underlying investee companies. The valuers are provided with the necessary financial information 
of the underlying assets in order to carry out the independent valuations. 

The fair value of property derived from the valuation process is then used by the investee accordingly, to 
reflect the fair value of the investment property. The independent valuation process is performed at a 
minimum on an annual basis. 

On a quarterly basis, the Board of Directors monitors the performance of the Company’s investments. 
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4. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED) 

 
Valuation process for Level 3 valuations 
 
The fair value of unquoted equity shares held by the Company is determined as its proportion of the 
investee company’s shareholder equity or net asset value. In terms of the Company’s Constitution, the 
Board of Directors has appointed independent external valuers to fair value the investment properties held 
by the underlying investee companies. The valuers are provided with the necessary financial information 
of the underlying assets in order to carry out the independent valuations. 

 
The fair value of property derived from the valuation process is then used by the investee accordingly, to 
reflect the fair value of the investment property. The independent valuation process is performed at a 
minimum on an annual basis. 
 
On a quarterly basis, the Board of Directors monitors the performance of the Company’s investments. 
 
Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited (“AMML”) 
 
The Company has a 50% holding in AMML, a jointly controlled entity incorporated in Mauritius. The other 
50% holding is held by AttAfrica Limited. AMML is an investment vehicle with a subsidiary in Ghana, 
namely, Accra Mall Limited, which holds an investment property called Accra Mall with an area of 21,381 
square meters. Both the investee company and its subsidiary value their assets at fair value, while the 
carrying amounts of their liabilities approximate fair value. The fair value so determined is adjusted by 
adding back the proportionate share of the deferred tax liabilities that would only be incurred if the 
investment property is sold by the subsidiary, on the basis that a change in ownership would rather result 
from the sale of the shares in the investee company, AMML. This is based on the current tax laws of Ghana. 
Should the tax laws of Ghana be changed to levy income or capital gains tax on the transfer of the shares 
of the foreign holding company, the value of the investment in AMML could decrease by USD 11,978,571 
(2018: USD 13,171,297). 
 
The underlying investment property is the main component of the fair value of the shares. The property is 
valued by an Independent External Valuer with reference to properties of a similar nature and using a 
discounted cash flow method of valuation. The property is valued by discounting the expected future net 
annual income for the period of ten years plus the capitalised value of subsequent years’ income at 
appropriate capitalization and discount rates (or total rate of return) to the present value (PV) of the 
expected total income cash flow.  
 
Assuming all other things remain constant, if the discount rate and/or reversionary capitalisation rate were 
to each vary by 50 basis points, the value of the investment in AMML would be as follows: 
 
2019 
Discounted cash flow method Reversionary Capitalisation rate 
  7.25% 7.75% 8.25% 
  USD USD USD 

  Discount rate 
 11.25% 38,298,596 36,538,007 34,990,823 
11.75% 36,563,756 34,880,374 33,401,038 
12.25% 34,903,530 33,293,645 31,878,899 

     
2018     
Discounted cash flow method Reversionary Capitalisation rate 
  7.25% 7.75% 8.25% 
  USD USD USD 

Discount rate 
11.25% 44,261,269 42,297,736 40,572,206 
11.75% 42,334,684 40,457,257 38,807,396 
12.25% 40,491,050 38,695,593 37,117,767 
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4. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED) 

 
Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited (“AMML”) (continued) 
 
Summarised financial information of the joint venture based on IFRS financial statements and 
reconciliation with the carrying amount of the investment in the financial statements are set out below: 

 
Consolidated statement of financial information of AMML 

 
   2019 

 
2018  

USD 
 

USD 
    

Current assets 3,423,068 
 

3,030,743 
Non-current assets 120,154,696 

 
132,613,877 

Current liabilities (74,069,156) 
 

(31,149,467) 
Non-current liabilities - 

 
(45,656,697) 

Equity – Attributable to minority interest (approximately 6%) (3,705,003) 
 

(4,266,536) 
             – Attributable to AMML (approximately 94%)                45,803,605  54,571,920    

  
2019 

 
2018  

USD 
 

USD 
    

Proportion of ownership in AMML 50% 
 

50% 
Share of the equity in AMML  22,901,803  27,285,960 
Adjustment for deferred tax 11,978,571  13,171,297 
Fair value of investment 34,880,374 

 
40,457,257 

 
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of Accra Mall (Mauritius) 
Limited  

2019 
 

2018  
USD 

 
USD 

    
Income 86,951 

 
13,509,450 

Expenses (7,169,219) 
 

(10,720,850) 
    

Profit before tax (7,082,268) 
 

2,788,600 
Income tax expense (261,514) 

 
(338,089) 

    

Profit for the year (7,343,782) 
 

2,450,511 
Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or 
loss in subsequent periods -  - 
Total comprehensive income  (7,343,782) 

 
2,450,511 

Non-controlling interest (approximately 6%) 355,467 
 

(244,898) 
Total comprehensive income attributable to AMML (6,988,315)  2,205,613    

  

2019 

 

2018  

USD 

 

USD 
    
Proportion of ownership in AMML 50% 

 

50% 

Share of comprehensive income (3,494,158) 
 

1,102,807 
Dividend received (890,000)  (1,575,000) 
Adjustment for deferred tax for the year ended (1,192,725) 

 
308,079 

 
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment 

 
(5,576,883) 

 
 

(164,114) 
 

The joint venture had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). 
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4. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED) 

 
Amani Place Properties Limited (“APPL”) 
 
APPL is an investment vehicle with a subsidiary in Tanzania, namely Capital Properties Limited (“CPL”), 
which holds investment properties. 
 
APPL holds 4,999,999 shares out of the issued 5 million shares in CPL, which is incorporated in Tanzania 
and domiciled in Tanzania as a limited liability private company whose shares are not publicly traded. The 
other 1 share is held by Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited (“SOHL”). The principal activity of CPL is 
investment in commercial property. Currently, CPL owns three buildings called FNB House, Amani Place 
and Barclays House measuring 21,062 square meters in aggregate and the related parking silo. All 
buildings are located in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. 
 
Both the investee company and its subsidiary value their assets at fair value, while the carrying amounts 
of their liabilities approximate fair value. Due to provisions in Tanzanian legislation, the fair value so 
determined is not adjusted by adding back the deferred tax liability created in CPL. 
 
The underlying investment property is the main component of the fair value of the shares. The property is 
valued by an Independent External Valuer with reference to properties of a similar nature and using a 
discounted cash flow method of valuation. The property is valued by discounting the expected future net 
annual income for the period of ten years plus the capitalised value of subsequent years’ income at 
appropriate reversionary capitalisation and discount rates (or total rate of return) to the PV of the expected 
total income cash flow.  
 
Assuming all other things remain constant, if the discount rate and/or future capitalisation rate were to 
each vary by 50 basis points, the value of the investment in APPL would change as follows: 
 
2019 
Discounted cash flow method  Reversionary Capitalisation rate 
  8.75% 9.25% 9.75% 
  USD USD USD 
 11.50% 28,993,834 27,745,495 26,619,224 

 Discount rate 
12.00% 27,525,316 26,331,600 25,254,611 
12.50% 26,119,450 24,977,740 23,947,671 
    

 
2018 
Discounted cash flow method          Reversionary Capitalisation rate 
  8.75% 9.25% 9.75% 
  USD USD USD 

Discount rate 
11.00% 32,865,657 31,532,967 30,336,957 
11.50%      31,234,187 29,960,067 28,816,627 
12.00% 29,672,357 28,453,987 27,360,577 

 
Lousol Properties Mauritius and Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited 
 
LPM and SOHL are investment vehicles holding a subsidiary in Nigeria namely Lousol Properties Limited 
(“LPL”), which in turn holds an investment property.  
 
LPM and SOHL hold 163,899,836 shares and 164 shares respectively in LPL, which is incorporated in 
Nigeria and domiciled in Nigeria as a limited liability private company whose shares are not publicly 
traded. The principal activity of LPL is investment in real estate. Currently, LPL owns one building called 
Atlantic House with an area of 4,271 square meters. The building is located in Victoria Island, Lagos, 
Nigeria. 
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4. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED) 

 
Lousol Properties Mauritius (“LPM”) and Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited (“SOHL”) (continued) 

 
The carrying amount of SOHL as at 31 December 2019 was USD Nil (2018: USD Nil) as the company is 
loss-making.  
 
Both the investee companies and LPL value their assets at fair value, while the carrying amounts of their 
liabilities approximate fair value. The fair value so determined is adjusted by adding back the deferred tax 
liability that would only be incurred if the investment property is sold by the subsidiary, on the basis that 
a change in ownership would rather result from the sale of the shares in the investee company.  
 
This is based on the current tax laws of Nigeria. Should the tax laws of Nigeria be changed to levy income 
or capital gains tax on the transfer of the shares of the foreign holding company, the provisioning for the 
impairment of loan receivable could decrease by USD Nil (2018: USD Nil). 
 
The underlying investment property is the main component of the fair value of the shares. The property is 
valued by an Independent External Valuer with reference to properties of a similar nature and using a 
discounted cash flow method of valuation. The property is valued by discounting the expected future net 
annual income for the period of ten years plus the capitalised value of subsequent years’ income at 
appropriate capitalization and discount rates (or total rate of return) to arrive at the PV of the expected 
income.  
 
In 2019, the carrying amount of LPM was USD 12,701,038 (2018: USD 18,960,501).  

 
There are no other significant assumptions used by the Company in valuing the Level 3 instruments for 
which a reasonably possible change thereto would have a significant impact on the fair value of such 
instruments. 

 
Assuming all other things remain constant, if the discount rate and/or reversionary capitalisation rate were 
to each vary by 50 basis points, the value of the investment in LPM would be as follows: 

 
2019 

 Discounted cash flow method  Reversionary Capitalisation rate 
  9.50% 10.00% 10.50% 
  USD USD USD 
 11.50% 14,221,565 13,550,144 12,940,443 

 Discount rate 12.00% 13,343,079 12,701,038 12,118,015 
12.50% 12,501,854 11,887,784 11,330,161 

 
2018 

 Discounted cash flow method  Reversionary Capitalisation rate 
  9.00% 9. 50% 10.00% 
  USD USD USD 
 11.00% 20,997,741 20,074,211 19,243,031 

 Discount rate 11.50%      19,843,451 18,960,501 18,165,841 
12.00% 18,738,901 17,894,581 17,134,701 

 
5. LOAN RECEIVABLE           

 
 Loan due from related parties 2019  2018 
 USD  USD 
    
Amani Place Properties Limited  429,412  3,829,412 
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5. LOAN RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED)        
 

The interest bearing loan is unsecured, bears interest at the rate of six month LIBOR plus 2%. The interest 
bearing loan is receivable on demand. 
 
During the year ended December 2019, a repayment of the interest-bearing loan amounting to USD 
3,400,000 was made to the Company (2018: Nil). During the year, a 2-year interest holiday (effective as 
from 01 July 2019) was approved by the Board of the company. 

 
Interest income accrued for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to USD 93,824 (2018: USD 161,982) 
using EIR. At 31 December 2019, interest receivable on the loan was Nil (2018: Nil) as the interest income 
was received through bank during the year. 

 
6.    RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES  

 
During the year under review, the Company had the following transactions and balances with related parties: 

 

 

 
Refer to note 5 for term and conditions of loans and advances. 

 

 
Refer to note 10(i) for terms and conditions of loans and advances. Other receivable relates to expenses paid 
on behalf of the subsidiary. The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and receivable on demand. 
 

e) Administrator – Intercontinental Trust Limited (ITL) 2019 
 

2018  
USD 

 
USD 

Payable to ITL at 31 December 36,912  21,545 
    

ITL fees for the year  110,640  111,424 
 

    

a) Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary Limited 2019 
 

2018 
(Shareholder and Advisor) USD 

 
USD 

Advisory fees payable (Note 7) 344,177  363,035  
 

  

Advisory fees for the year (Note 7) 1,406,793 
 

1,467,895 
 

The above advisory fees relate to the day to day administration of the Company outsourced to the Advisor, 
an indirect subsidiary of Sanlam Limited, in terms of the Advisory Agreement.  

b) Joint venture - Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited 2019 
 

2018  
USD 

 
USD 

Dividend income  890,000  1,575,000 

c) Subsidiary – Amani Place Properties Limited 2019 
 

2018  
USD 

 
USD 

Loan receivable at 31 December 
 

429,412  3,829,412  
 

  

Interest income for the year 93,824 
 

161,982 

d) Subsidiary – Lousol Properties Mauritius 2019 
 

2018  
USD 

 
USD 

Other receivable at 31 December 384,793  358,793 
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6.    RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

 
Key management personnel 

Jacobus Petrus Möller resigned as director of the Company on 09 February 2020. 

Johannes Hendrik Petrus Van Der Merwe has a financial interest in Sanlam Limited which is a shareholder 
of the Company’s Advisor. 

Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula is the Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director of the Company's Advisor. 

Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin is a director of Intercontinental Trust Limited, the Company’s Administrator and 
Company Secretary. 

All transactions were entered into in the normal course of business. The Company does not have any 
employees and the day to day administration of the Company is outsourced to the Administrator and the 
Advisor in terms of the Administration Services and Advisory Agreements respectively. 

 
Directors remuneration 2019  2018 
 USD 

 
USD 

 
Directors fees for the year 122,547  120,572 
 
Directors fees payable at 31 December 18,306  22,900 

 
The key management personnel did not receive any short-term benefits, post-employment benefits, 
termination benefits, share-based payments or any other long term benefits during the year. (2018: nil) 

 
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties 

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has written off receivables amounting to USD 20,000 
(2018: USD 20,000) owed by Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited, a related party. This assessment is undertaken 
each financial year through examining the financial position of the related parties and the market in which 
the related parties operate.  

 
7. ADVISORY FEES 
 

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement between the Company and Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor 
Proprietary Limited (the “Advisor”), the Company is required to pay annual advisory fees of 1% on the 
aggregate of the Company’s underlying property asset values to the Advisor.  

The advisory fees incurred for 2019 were USD 1,406,793 (2018: USD 1,467,895) and USD 344,177 (2018: USD 
363,035) was payable at 31 December 2019. 
 

8. DIRECTORS FEES 
 

Pursuant to the Directors Service Agreement between the Company and the Directors, Directors are entitled 
to directors fees for their attendance at various meetings plus a quarterly retainer. Total Directors’ fees for the 
year ended 31 December 2019 were USD 89,547 (2018: USD 87,572). 

Pursuant to the Audit & Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) Service Agreement between the Company 
and the ARMC members, ARMC members are entitled to fees for their attendance at various meetings. Total 
ARMC member fees for the year ended 31 December 2019 were USD 33,000 (2018: USD 33,000). 

Pursuant to the Investment Committee (“IC”) Service Agreement between the Company and the IC members, 
IC members are entitled to fees for their attendance at various meetings. There were no IC meetings during 
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). 
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9. PROFESSIONAL FEES 

 2019  2018 
 USD  USD 

Professional fees 23,350 
 

22,205 
Insurance fees 14,917  14,917 
Secretarial and registry fees 29,383  26,975 

 67,650  64,097 
 
10(i). OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS 

 2019  2018 
  USD  USD 
    
Receivable from Lousol Properties Mauritius (Note 6) 384,793  358,793 
Prepayments 16,414  16,210 
 401,207  375,003 

 
The amount receivables from the related party are unsecured, interest free and receivable on demand.  

 
10(ii).  RECEIVABLE WRITTEN OFF 

 During the year, an amount of USD 20,000 (2018: USD 20,000) due from Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited 
was written off. 
 

11. DISTRIBUTIONS TO SHAREHOLDERS 

SACREIL cannot distribute a dividend for the 2019 financial year due to failing the solvency test. Therefore 
the dividend for 2019 is USD nil per share (2018: USD 1,118,185 equivalent to USD 0.0600 per share). 

 
12. TAXATION 

 
The Company, being the holder of a Category 1, Global Business Licence, is liable for income tax in 
Mauritius on its taxable profit arising from its world-wide income at the rate of 15%.   
 
The Company’s foreign sourced income is eligible for a foreign tax credit which is computed as the lower 
of the Mauritian tax and the foreign tax on the respective foreign sourced income, thus reducing the 
maximum effective tax rate to 3%. The foreign tax for a GBL1 company is based on either the foreign tax 
charged by the foreign country or a presumed amount of foreign tax: the presumed amount of foreign tax 
is based on 80% of the Mauritian tax on the relevant foreign sourced income. In computing its total foreign 
tax credit, the Company is allowed to pool all its foreign sourced income. In computing its total foreign tax 
credit, the Company is allowed to pool all its foreign sourced income.   

Pursuant to the enactment of the Finance Act 2018, with effect as from 1 January 2019, the deemed tax credit 
has been phased out, through the implementation of a new tax regime. Companies which had obtained 
their Business Licence on or before 16 October 2017, including the Company, have been grandfathered and 
would benefit from the 80% presumed tax credit regime up to 30 June 2021. 

Accordingly, the Company is entitled to a foreign tax credit equivalent to the higher of the actual foreign 
tax suffered or 80% of the Mauritian tax on its foreign source income resulting in an effective tax rate on 
net income of up to 3%, up to 30 June 2021. 

Capital gains are outside the scope of the Mauritian tax net, while trading profits made by the Company 
from the sale of shares are exempt from tax. The Company does not have any tax liability for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). 

A reconciliation between the applicable income tax rate of 15% and the effective income tax rate is as 
follows:  
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12. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 

 
 2019  2018 
 %  % 
Applicable income tax rate 15.00  15.00 
Impact of:    
Exempt income 0.82  4.90 
Income not subject to tax1 -  - 
Non tax deductible expenses2 (15.75)  (19.87) 
Unrecognised tax losses (0.07)  (0.03) 
Actual income tax rate -  - 
 

1 Income not subject to tax includes the net gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
2 Non tax deductible expenses consist mainly of distribution to shareholders and the net losses on financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss. 

 
At 31 December 2019, the Company had accumulated tax losses of USD 3,145,743 (2018: USD 3,075,080). 
The tax losses are available for offset against future taxable profit. Below is a summary of the available tax 
losses to the Company: 

 
Tax losses for the year Tax losses Expiry date Tax losses 
   2019  2018 
 USD  USD  USD 
31 December 2015 1,572,827 31 December 2020 1,572,827  1,572,827 
31 December 2016 1,492,372 31 December 2021 1,492,372  1,492,372   
31 December 2018 9,881 31 December 2023 9,881  9,881 
31 December 2019 70,663 31 December 2024 70,663  - 

 
Accumulated tax losses at 31 December 

 
3,145,743 

  
3,075,080 

 
The foregoing is based on current interpretation and practice and is subject to any future changes in 
Mauritian tax laws. 
 
Deferred tax 
 
A deferred tax asset of USD 94,372 (2018: USD 92,252) has not been recognised in respect of the tax loss 
carried forward as the Board of Directors considers that it is not probable with enough certainty that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.  
 

 
13.    CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash balances with banks and cash equivalents which are short term, 
highly liquid investments.  

 2019  2018 
  USD  USD 
    

Balances with banks 7,477,636  4,881,150 
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14.    SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 

For management purposes, the Company is organised into one main operating segment, which invests in 
equity securities. All significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the Company as one 
segment. The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the financial statements of the Company 
as a whole. 
 
The Company only holds investments in companies incorporated in Mauritius. Income or losses shown in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are derived from these companies. 
 
The following table analyses the Company’s income per investment type: 
  2019  2018 

 
Net (loss)/ gain on financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss: 

USD 
 

USD 

-  Joint venture (5,576,883)  (164,114) 
-  Subsidiaries (9,887,929)  (2,855,838) 
Interest income    
- Subsidiaries 93,824  161,982 
Dividend income    
- Joint venture 890,000  1,575,000 
Total (14,480,988)  (1,282,970) 

 
15. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 

   2019  2018 
   USD  USD 
      
Professional fees payable 6,220  1,515 
Accounting fees payable 27,905  18,405 
Directors fees payable 18,306  22,900 
Other payables  25,902  32,995 

   78,333  75,815 
 

Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months. 
 
16.    CLASS A, CLASS B AND CLASS C SHARES 

 
The following classes of shares were in issue at 31 December 2019: 

 
• Class A – 16,636,409 shares 
• Class B – 2,000,000 shares 
• Class C – 100 shares 

 
Class A  
 
Class A shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius and are held by various investors. Class A 
shares confer upon the holders thereof the following rights, obligations and restrictions: 

 
1. The right to vote on all matters except those matters solely affecting the rights of another class of shares; 
 
2. Each Class A share represents one vote; 
 
3. The right to dividends and distributions in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s 

Constitution and the Companies Act 2001 of Mauritius; 
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16.    CLASS A, CLASS B AND CLASS C SHARES (CONTINUED) 
 

Class A (Continued) 
 
4. If the Gross Asset Value of the Company is less than USD 750 million on the Company Reference Date 

(being 31 December 2020), then each Class A Shareholder will have the right to elect to have their 
shareholding repurchased by the Company. There is no receivable recognised at year end because the 
terms per clause 10 of the Company’s constitution have not yet been met; 
 

5. Participate in the termination and winding up of the Company. 
 
Refer to the statement of changes in net assets attributable to shareholders for net asset per share. 

 
Class B 
 
Class B shares shall, at all times, be held by the Advisor of the Company or by the Company. Class B shares 
confer upon the holders thereof the following rights: 

 
1. The right to vote on all matters except those matters solely affecting the rights of another class of shares; 
 
2. Class B shares have at all times voting rights not less than 10% of the aggregate voting rights of all the 

shares on all matters except those matters solely affecting the Class A shares; 
 
3. The right to dividends and distributions in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s 

Constitution and the Companies Act 2001 of Mauritius; 
 

As per the Company’s Constitution, the holder of the Class B shares has the right to an additional 
dividend subject to certain conditions being met. There was no additional dividend reserve for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.  
 
The Net Assets Attributable to the Class B shareholder are made up as follows: 

 
 2019  2018 
 USD  USD 
    

Other Net Assets 8,778,371  10,519,670 
 

4. The Class B shares shall be redeemable at the option of the Company in the circumstances which entitle 
the Company (acting on the instructions of Class A Shareholders) to terminate the Advisory Agreement 
and have the obligation to acquire those shares. Should the Advisor terminate the Advisory Agreement, 
the Company or replacement Advisor would be obliged to acquire the Class B Shares. 

 
5. Participate in the termination and winding up of the Company. 

Refer to the statement of changes in net assets attributable to shareholders for net asset per share. 
 

Class C 
 
Class C Shares are categorized as a liability instrument because of the contractual obligation contained in 
the advisory agreement between the Company and the Advisor, the holder of the Class C Shares. 
 
Class C shares shall, at all times, be held by the Advisor of the Company. 
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16.    CLASS A, CLASS B AND CLASS C SHARES (CONTINUED) 
 

Class C (Continued) 
 

1. Class C shares do not participate in any distributions;  
2. Class C shares are non-voting; 
3. Class C Shares are only redeemable if the advisory agreement is terminated and should be issued to the 

replacement Advisor. 
4. On winding up, the Class C shareholder will be only entitled to the subscription price thereof. 

 
The Class A and B shares are measured at their NAV based on the Company’s Constitution, being that the 
company is only able to redeem the shares at their share of the NAV. Class C shares is entitled to only its 
par value at time of liquidation. The fair value measurement is therefore considered a level 3 recurring 
valuation. Refer to the statement of changes in net assets attributable to shareholders for net asset per 
share.  

 
17.    CHANGE IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE PER SHARE 

 
Change in net assets attributable per share is calculated for Class A and Class B separately to take into 
consideration any additional dividend to which the Class B shareholder is entitled to.  
 
The change in net assets attributable per share is calculated as follows: 
 
Class A - By dividing the change in net assets attributable to Class A from operations plus any adjustment as 
disclosed in the statement of changes of net assets attributable to shareholders by the number of Class A 
shares in issue at year end. 
 
Class B – By dividing the change in net assets attributable to Class B from operations, adjusted to add back 
the additional dividend and any adjustment as disclosed in the statement of changes of net assets attributable 
to shareholders, by the number of Class B shares in issue at year end. 
 

 2019  2018 
 USD  USD 
    

Decrease in net assets attributable to Class A from operations (14,484,483)  (4,306,757) 
    
Change in net assets attributable to Class A (14,484,483)  (4,306,757) 
    
Number of Class A shares at 31 December  16,636,409  16,636,409 
Change in net assets attributable to Class A per share (0.8706)  (0.2589) 

Decrease in net assets attributable to Class B from operations  (1,741,299) 
 

(517,751) 
    
    
Change in net assets attributable to Class B (1,741,299)  (517,751) 

    
Number of Class B shares at 31 December  2,000,000  2,000,000 
Change in net assets attributable to Class B per share (0.8706)  (0.2589) 
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18. FINANCIAL RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  
 

The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. Risk is 
inherent in the Company’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, 
measurement and monitoring of risks, subject to risk limits and other controls. The process of risk 
management is critical to the Company’s continuing profitability. 
 
Risk management structure 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company has set up an Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC) to 
assist the Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities relating to: 
 

• The safeguarding of the Company’s assets;  
• The appropriateness and effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls; 
• The quality and integrity of financial reporting and disclosures, and the risks related thereto; 
• The qualification, independence, performance and fees of the External Auditors of the Company; 
• The Company’s compliance with all applicable legal, regulatory and accounting requirements; and 
• An assessment of service providers, including, but not limited to, the Company’s Administrator and the 

Company’s Advisor; and 
• An assessment of the adequacy or otherwise of the insurance cover taken out by the Company and 

investee companies. 
 
Risk measurement and reporting system 
 
The ARMC will examine and review the annual financial statements, the interim reports, the accompanying 
reports to shareholders, the preliminary announcement of results and any other announcement regarding 
the Company’s results or other financial information to be made public, prior to submission to, and approval 
by, the Board of Directors. Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily set up to be performed based on 
limits established by the Board of Directors. These limits reflect the business strategy including the risk that 
the Company is willing to accept and the market environment of the Company. In addition, the Company 
monitors and measures the overall risk in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risks types and 
activities. 
 
New Transaction Approval 
 
As per the Company’s Constitution, the Company also has an investment committee (“IC”). The IC assesses 
the risk/return profile of proposed investments before recommendation to the Board of Directors. All new 
transactions need to be recommended by the IC before being considered by the Board of Directors for final 
approval. 
 
The Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. 

 
Financial risk factors 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:  market risk (which includes currency risk 
and interest rate risk), property income and valuation risk, equity price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 
Market risk  
 
Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The Company's financial assets and liabilities, and those of its underlying investee 
companies are predominantly denominated in USD which is the Company’s functional currency and the 
Company is therefore not materially exposed to any foreign currency risk and has also not been impacted 
severely by the currency fluctuations being brought by the pandemic Covid-19. 
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18. FINANCIAL RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Market risk (continued) 
 
Currency risk (continued) 
 
However, within the investee companies, there may be a foreign currency risk in the underlying 
investments as these may, in some cases, derive income in the respective local currencies of the countries 
in which they operate. This income is indexed to the USD. Fair value changes to the Company will therefore 
be dependent on changes to foreign exchange rates in the underlying investments, which impact expected 
future USD net annual income. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.  Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  Interest rate risk primarily results 
from exposure to the volatility of interest rates. The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is on the 
interest-bearing loan advanced to APPL of USD 429,412 (2018: USD 3,829,412). The interest rate is variable. 
However, during the year 2019 a 2-year interest holiday (effective as from 01 July 2019) was approved, 
therefore the Company’s loss before tax will not be affected to changes in interest rates. 
 
Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that 
portion of loans and borrowings affected. With all other variables held constant, the Company’s loss before 
tax is affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows: 

  

Year 
 

Loss before tax  

Interest Rate 
Increase/(decrease) 

in basis points  

Effect on 
(loss)/profit 
before tax 

  USD    USD 

2019  (16,225,782)  +25  - 
  -25  - 

2018  (4,824,508)  +25  68,041 
    -25  (68,041) 

 
Credit risk 
 
The Company is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to meet its 
obligations under a financial instrument or contract, leading to a financial loss. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December was:   

2019  2018 
    USD  USD 
 
Cash at bank 

 
 

7,477,636 
  

4,881,150 
Loan receivable   429,412  3,829,412 
Other receivables 384,793  358,793 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  14,133,103  20,392,566 
Financial guarantee (Note 20) 14,885,573  14,885,573 

TOTAL   37,310,517  44,347,494 
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18. FINANCIAL RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

There is no significant credit risk associated with the cash at bank since the Company maintains bank 
accounts with large financial institutions. The Company’s main banker is Absa Bank (Mauritius) Limited 
which is a subsidiary of the ABSA Group (long term credit rating by Moody's in 2019: Ba1). As such, the 
directors believe exposure to credit risk to be minimal. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented 
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the statement of financial position. Within the investee 
companies, there is exposure to credit risk in the form of tenants in the underlying investment properties 
not being able to meet their lease obligations. This risk is mitigated through having quality investment 
properties that are readily lettable and actively managing delinquent tenants. The other financial assets 
have not been rated by rating agencies. 
 
The loans and receivables, except for the receivable from SOHL of USD 20,000 (2018: USD 20,000), are 
neither past due nor impaired for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. Refer to note 
10 for the impairment provisions made during the year ended 31 December 2019.  
 
Property income and valuation risk 
 
Property income risk is the risk of not being able to maintain the level of net income associated with a 
building typically due to increased costs or vacancies and the risk that tenant affordability in country is 
impacted due to depreciation of the local currency. 
 
Long term contracts are entered into as far as possible for leases. Property management fees are based on 
a percentage of collections and leases concluded/renewed. Costs are controlled and measured against an 
approved budget. 
 
Property valuations are dependent upon assumptions relating to, inter alia, discount rates and 
reversionary capitalisation rates. Sensitivities to these variables are provided in note 4. 
 
Equity price risk 
 
Equity price risk is the risk of unfavourable changes in the fair values of equities as the result of changes 
in the value of individual shares. The Company is exposed to equity price risk because of uncertainties 
about future prices of the investments held at fair value through profit or loss. The world-wide outbreak 
of the COVID-19 virus may have a significant negative impact on the liquidity of the company. To manage 
its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Company targets underlying real estate 
assets with demonstrated and sustainable income streams with little or no development risk. However, 
rental concessions granted to tenants, as a result of their financial distress due to the economic impact of 
Covid-19, will result in deviations in the property valuations of the rental properties, which will have a 
direct impact of the Fair Value of the assets consolidated into the company and thus increasing the equity 
risk. 
 
If the prices of the securities held by the Company at 31 December 2019 increased/decreased by 5% with 
all other variables held constant, this would have increased/decreased total net assets attributable to 
shareholders by approximately USD 3,695,650 (2018: USD 4,468,891). 
 
Refer to note 4 for additional information on the equity price risk. 
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18. FINANCIAL RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.  
 
There was no facility in 2019 (2018: Nil). The Company is currently considering alternative sources of 
financing. Liquidity risk is managed by having adequate facilities or by having cash on hand.  
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2019 
based on contractual undiscounted payments: 

  
No stated 
maturity  

Up to 3 
months  Total 

At 31 December 2019 USD  USD  USD 
Financial liabilities 

 
 

 
 

 

Other payables and accruals -  78,333  78,333 
Advisory fees payable -  344,177  344,177 
Net assets attributable to shareholders 81,798,757  -  81,798,757 

 81,798,757  422,510  82,221,267 
   

No stated 
maturity  

Up to 3 
months  Total 

At 31 December 2018 USD  USD  USD 
Financial liabilities 

 
 

 
 

 

Other payables and accruals -  75,815  75,815 
Advisory fees payable -  363,035  363,035 
Net assets attributable to shareholders 98,024,539  -  98,024,539 

 98,024,539  438,850  98,463,389 
 

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is allocated to the earliest period 
in which the guarantee could be called.  
  

No stated 
maturity  

3-12 
months  Total 

At 31 December 2019 USD  USD  USD 
      
Financial guarantee -  14,885,573  14,885,573 

 
 No stated  3-12    

maturity  months  Total 
At 31 December 2018 USD  USD  USD 
      
Financial guarantee -  14,885,573  14,885,573  
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18. FINANCIAL RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Liquidity risk (Continued) 

 
Capital risk management 
 
The Company’s capital at the year-end is represented by the total net asset values of the Class A, B and C 
shares. The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern in order to provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital. The Company actively manages its capital 
structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.  
 
Pursuant to the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Listing Rules, the Company is required to have a minimum 
market capitalisation of 20 million Mauritian rupees (approximately USD 550,000). The market capitalisation 
of the Company at 31 December 2019 was USD 52,182,225 (2018: USD 56,563,790).  
 
Fair values 
 
Except where stated elsewhere, the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities 
approximate their fair values due to the short term maturities of these financial instruments. 

 
Categories of financial instruments  2019  2018 
  USD  USD 
Financial assets    
    
Financial assets at amortised cost1 8,291,841  9,069,355 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 73,913,012  89,377,824 
  82,204,853  98,447,179 
 
Financial liabilities 

   

 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost2 422,510 

 
438,850 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 81,798,757  98,024,539 
  82,221,267  98,463,389 

 

1 Financial assets at amortised cost include: Cash and cash equivalents, loan receivable, other receivables 
from related parties. Prepayments of USD 16,414 (2018: USD 16,210) have been excluded from financial 
assets. 

2 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include: advisory fees payable, other payables and 
accrued expenses. 

 
 
19. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE 

 
a) Jacobus Petrus Möller resigned as director of the Company on 09 February 2020. 
 
b) SACREIL is the Guarantor to support Lousol Properties Limited (‘LPL’) for the repayment of the 

outstanding USD 14,885,573 loan from Standard Chartered Bank Nigeria (‘SCBN’), which was due for 
redemption on 2 December 2019. The terms for refinancing the loan were agreed with Standard Chartered 
Bank during 2019, however, due to statutory challenges, the agreement could not be concluded by the due 
date. The refinancing agreements were concluded subsequent to year end. Had the financial statements 
been finalised prior to the refinancing being finalised, the Company would have had to recognise LPL’s 
loan of USD 14,885,573 which would have been expensed in the statement of profit or loss and other 
income. The LPL refinancing was concluded after year end, despite negotiations started before year end 
and this has been considered as an adjusting event at balance sheet date. Refer to note 20. 
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19. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE (CONTINUED) 

 
c) The coronavirus outbreak occurred at a time close to the reporting date and the condition has continued 

to evolve throughout the timeline crossing 31 December 2019. In late 2019, a cluster of cases displaying 
the symptoms of a “pneumonia of unknown cause” were identified in Wuhan, the capital of China’s 
Hubei province. On 31 December 2019, China alerted the World Health Organisation (WHO) of this 
new virus. On 30 January 2020, the International Health Regulations Emergency Committee of the 
WHO declared the outbreak a “Public Health Emergency of International Concern”. Since then, more 
cases have been diagnosed, also in other countries. Measures were taken and policies imposed by China 
and other countries. Gradually more information became available.  

 
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization declared Covid-19, a novel and highly contagious 
form of coronavirus, as a pandemic. Many countries have reacted by instituting quarantines, 
prohibitions on travel and the closure of offices, businesses, schools, retail stores and other public 
venues.  Businesses have also implemented similar precautionary measures.  Such measures, as well as 
the general uncertainty surrounding the dangers and impact of COVID-19, are creating significant 
disruption in supply chains and economic activity. As COVID-19 continues to spread with some 
countries even experiencing severe second waves of the virus, the high level of uncertainty will impact 
businesses in our sectors of activity.  

The Company’s subsidiaries have investment properties in Ghana, Nigeria and Tanzania. Real estate 
operations are under pressure due to tenant financial distress, temporary facility closures and economic 
growth concerns. Real estate investment trusts’ stocks are down dramatically since late February, 
impacting all sectors, including those that are generally considered defensive asset types. The disruption 
of peoples’ lives has shifted where and how they spend their time (working from home, increased virtual 
shopping and entertainment), which may accelerate the adoption of already shifting behaviours and 
upend the traditional supply/demand model. This has led to changes in the rental income following 
rent concession and higher discount rates, thus impacting the fair value of the investment properties. It 
is not clear yet what this means for private market real estate values and the financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss of the Company. 

Likewise, debt transactions that were in process have generally closed or continued to progress toward 
closing. Highly levered deals in regard to the finalisation of the financial guarantee entered between 
Lousol Properties Limited, Lousol Properties Mauritius, Standard Chartered Bank (Mauritius), Standard 
Chartered Bank (Nigeria) and other parties, however, were delayed due to the pandemic.  

The Directors has also assessed the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. When making that 
assessment, where relevant, management takes into consideration the existing and anticipated effects of 
the outbreak on the entity’s activities in its assessment of the appropriateness of the use of the going 
concern basis. The Directors are satisfied that the Company have enough resources to continue in 
business for the foreseeable future.   

Management is of the opinion that it is difficult to assess the potential future wider consequences 
(including a global, regional or other economic recession). Hence, it is difficult to quantify the overall 
outcome and impact of Covid-19 at this stage. The effects of the Covid-19 is considered to be a non-
adjusting event as at 31 December 2019. 
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20.     GUARANTEE 

 
During the year ended 31 December 2014, LPL entered into a Term Loan Facility Agreement amounting to 
USD 25.25 million with Standard Chartered Bank Nigeria Limited. The capital balance of the loan facility 
was amortised quarterly and the final repayment was due 60 months from the date of the first drawdown. 
During 2017, all the quarterly capital amortisation amounts were prepaid by LPL, and only interest was 
payable during the year ended 31 December 2019 until the final capital repayment of USD 14,885,573. LPL 
was experiencing some difficulties in repaying the interest due and this loan has been classified as amortised 
cost in the books of LPL. The Company acted as guarantor to support the funding requirements of LPL with 
regards to the repayment of the loan. The original terms entered into stipulated that in the event of default 
by LPL, the Company undertakes to provide financial support to LPL to repay any outstanding debt amount 
using either an equity injection or a shareholder loan.  
 
A refinancing plan has been set up and the terms for refinancing the loan were agreed with Standard 
Chartered Bank Nigeria Limited. During the year, an Amended and Restatement Agreement has been 
drafted between the relevant parties, including Lousol Properties Mauritius, who is allowed to accede to the 
Amended and Restatement Agreement. The amended terms stipulate that a new tranche is being made 
available to the Lousol Properties Mauritius by Standard Chartered Bank (Mauritius) Limited for an amount 
of USD10,000,000. A Deed of Guarantee has been drafted where the Company acts as guarantor to the terms 
of the Amended and Restatement Agreement for the amount of USD 10,000,000.  
 
However, the finalisation of the aforesaid agreement and deed of guarantee got delayed and was finalised 
after year end (refer to note 19 (b)). The Company has concluded that no ECL is required on the USD 
14,885,573 loan under the guarantee as it has been replaced by the new guarantee of USD 10,000,000.  The 
remaining USD 4.8 million will be financed by the Company through a capital injection in Lousol Properties 
Mauritius, who will then provide a shareholder loan of USD 14,885,573 (financed partly by loan borrowing 
on which the Company acts as guarantor and partly by capital injection) to Lousol Properties Limited. The 
latter will use the shareholder loan to repay the bank loan to Standard Chartered Bank Nigeria Limited. 
 

21.    FINANCIAL SUPPORT  
         

The Company has signified its intention to provide its financial support to its Mauritian subsidiaries as 
and when required in order for them to meet their financial obligations as they fall due. Refer to note 20. 

 
22.    MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  
 

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected 
to be recovered or settled.  

2019  
Within 12  

 
After 12  

  
 

months  months  Total 
 
ASSETS  

USD 
 

USD 
 

USD 

Balances with banks 7,477,636  -  7,477,636 
Loan receivable  429,412  -  429,412 
Other receivables and prepayments 401,207  -  401,207 
Financial assets at fair value though profit or loss  -  73,913,012  73,913,012       
TOTAL ASSETS 8,308,255  73,913,012  82,221,267       
LIABILITIES  

     

Advisory fees payable (344,177) 
 

- 
 

(344,177) 
Other payables and accruals (78,333)  -  (78,333)  

     
TOTAL LIABILITIES (422,510)  -  (422,510)       
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS 7,885,745  73,913,012  81,798,757 
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22.    MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
  

2018        
Within 12  

 
After 12  

  
 

months  months  Total       
ASSETS  USD 

 
USD 

 
USD       

Balances with banks 4,881,150  -  4,881,150 
Loan receivable  3,829,412  -  3,829,412 
Other receivables and prepayments 375,003  -  375,003 
Financial assets at fair value though profit or loss  -  89,377,824  89,377,824 
     

  

TOTAL ASSETS 9,085,565  89,377,824  98,463,389       
LIABILITIES  

     

Advisory fees payable (363,035) 
 

- 
 

(363,035) 
Other payables and accruals (75,815)  -  (75,815)  

     
TOTAL LIABILITIES (438,850)  -  (438,850)     

  
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS 8,646,715  89,377,824  98,024,539 
 

  
 

  
 

  

 
 
23. PARENT AND ULTIMATE PARENT 
 

The parent is Sanlam Life Insurance Limited and the ultimate parent of the Company is Sanlam Limited, a 
company listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. 
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